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Edmund Berkeley’s Evergreen Farm Day Book 1905 – 1910 in the possession of the Prince 
William County Historical Commission was retrieved from historic Mt. Atlas. The transcription 
gives a daily log of the life on Evergreen Farm for the Berkeley’s in Prince William County. The 
day book also recorded the family travels. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



This Journal starts with page #25 with pages 1 through 24 missing. 
 
Sept. 13th – Alice began milking for half the milk 
Sept. 24th – Paid Alice in full for milking 
Sept 24th – Paid Mary Lansdown in full for her last month ending 15th of Sept. 
 
Paid Mary a pair of shoes      $1.50 
Cash to old Scott            .35 
Dress &c.        $3.33 
         $5.18 
Paid on cloak        $2.50 
         $7.68 
2 undershirts          1.68 
           1.00 
For Ella            .50 
Pair Shoes          1.50 
         $4.68 
Sugar 9 lbs            .45 
         $5.13 
Owe her        $3.87 
Pa paid her        $2.50 
         $1.37 
 
Ginn shoes            .40 
2 bbls corn          3.50 
James shoes            .50 
Mary’s shoes          1.35 
James shoes            .50 
Diamond Dye            .10 
2 pair stockings 20c           .40 
Mary’s dress          4.74 
Half yard silk            .25 
Mary’s shoes          1.75 
           7.14 
Middlings 
Cash for making dress       1.75 
Calico & gingham       1.50 
Piece of other braid         .12 
Lilian’s shoes          .75 
2 yards gingham         .12 
1 spool cotton          .05 
Lann dress & lace         .70 
Not legible          .50 
Pair shoes        1.35 
6 yards Chamberry         .10 
Belt           .25 



Mills           .25 
Sept. 11th cash          .25 
Corsets          .50 
7 yards Cantin flannel          
40 yards bleached cotton        .40 
Bottle Vaseline         .05 
4 lbs sugar          .26 
1 dozen quart jars         .50 
8 lbs sugar          .52 
1 dozen jars          .30 
Shoes - Ginn        2.00 
Hat – Katie B.          .75 
Cape         1.00 
9 tins K. B.          .50 
Cash for hat        1.50 
Bal. on hat        1.38 
Goods at Mr. Wilson’s same day     6.95 
Cash for dress waist         .50 
5 lbs sugar          .30 
1 lb candy          .10 
2 yards stiffening         .30 
Over shoes          .45 
James shoes          .65 
Cash           .40 
Whiskey          
Goods from The Plains 
Stockings bullines     
2 spec----          .10 
Lilians shoes          .75 
Calico & sp cotton         .65 
White petticoat Lucy Belches      1.00 
Cash           .25 
Poglnes?          .25 
Dec 23rd         5.00 
Feb.   2 barrels corn       4.50 
March 27th           .65 
April 29th                  13.15 
 
Cash to Aunt Kitty       1.50  
Half pint whiskey 
5 yards cantim fl         .50 
Tin basin 
1 lb starch, 1 cake soap 
Cash from Pa        1.00 
Lilians hat          .25 
8 cakes soap          .25 



Cash the eve she went to Hickory Grove    1.00 
Cash June 30th        1.25 
June 27th  5 lbs sugar         .32 
Shoes         1.35 
Cash           .50 
Sugar 5 lbs          .32 
Mary’s hat          .50 
3 yards bleached cotton        .30 
Baby’s cap         
5 lbs sugar          .32 
Cash         1.00 
2 lbs sugar          .12 
Box blue pad luck         .28 
Half lb candy            .05 
Bottle Vanilla          .15 
Lann dress & lace       1.15 
5 yards cotton          .50 
Bell           .25 
5 yards lace           
7 yards checked muslin        .48 
4 yards gingham         .28 
2 spools cotton           .12 
5 lbs sugar 6 ½          .33 
25 Cash          .25 
Pr. shoes Mary       1.35 
2 for Lilian        1.00 
8 cakes soap          .25 
6 yards ____          .48 
2 ½ yards plain 25 yards peryd       .62 ½  
Box of blue          .03 
Shoes for Mary       1.35 
Childs shoes        1.20 
Knitting cotton         .26 
Pair childs shoes       1.10 
Primer           .10 
Jan 31st  
10 yards gingham         .08 
Can lye          .10 
Bot ---infuge 
10 yards coarse cotton         .80 
5 oz fine          .50 
2 spools cotton         .10 
Pkg elastic starch         .10 
4 yards cotton          .40 
30 spools cotton         .15 
Pair shoes for Lilian         .90 



Pair stockings for L.        
Pair shoes for Mary 
Red goods          .70 
2 spools cotton         .10 
4 yards gingham         .20 
Pair shoes for Millie       1.25 
10 yards sheeting        
1 spool cotton          .05 
5 lbs sugar          .35 
3 yards one cotton         .30 
25 cents cash          .25 
Cash           .25 
Cash           .25 
Cash Nettie          .15 
Side comb          .10 
Comb 10 Stockings 10        .20 
2 cakes soap          .10 
5 lbs sugar          .33 
5 yards blue denim          .69 
10 lbs sugar          .70 
Cash           .25 
Laced shoes Mary       1.35 
3 yards blue denim         .37 ½  
3 lbs sugar          .35 
Half dozen jars          .37 ½  
Second reader          .25 
Slate & pencil  
Spelling book          .16 
Shoes for Lilian       1.25 
Order to Mr. Galleher       2.00 
Bed ticking 2 ¼ yards         .50 
Package dye          .10 
5 yards pillow case cotton        .62 ½  
1 spool cotton          .05 
1 bushel potatoes         .75 
 
 
Jinny came the 4th day of November. I am to pay her $3.00 a month. Paid her the 4th December 
$3.00 
 
Dec         
 
         
 
1905 
 



Jan 15th – My dear father left for the south, going to W. City to start. I miss him dreadfully now –  
got coal oil – he gave me $6.00 – got butter 36 & ____ .25 from Jimmy Baker – paid for 
them. 

Jan 19th – Thursday, George had Bessie & Mollie shod at a cost of $1.11 – Frank got his supper  
 things. 
Jan 20th – Friday, George got $1.50 wanted it to go on last year’s. I got piece of beef from Rose  

paid .75 & owe a little balance. Peter came up – I lent him my buggy but it not go down – 
sent Mrs. Keyser .25 for N. C’s present – paid sister .50 I borrowed – Kate sent home 
from school. 

Jan 21st – Saturday, Clarence Ennis cut wood all day for Gray & did very well. Got a telegram 
 from Mr. Bell ___ of my dear fathers safe arrival & feel very thankful. 

Jan 22nd – Sunday, Passed every gently ___ great deal & my eyes hurt so I had to stay. Kate  
 came very late. 
Jan 23rd – Monday, Sent Geo. & Albert to keep Mr. G. with telephone 
Jan 24th – Tuesday, Sent again & Mr. G. came to put it in. He got here about dark. Got my dear  
 father’s letter 
Jan 25th – Wednesday, One of the very worst days I ever saw since the Blizzard. Geo. came &  
 has done so well. He could not think if getting the mail. I write to Willie & L. L. 
Jan 26th – Thursday, Last night was the coldest we have had but we were comfortable. Geo.  
 came this morning always a relief. Nice letter from Mr. Beale about Pa. 
Jan 27th – Friday, Warmer, but cloudy, am so afraid it will snow before we get ice. 
Jan 28th – Saturday, Filled ice house with fine ice. Kate went home. Man did not come for cattle.  
 Talked to Mr. Moore then to L----. 
Jan 29th – Sunday, A very gentle day – Wrote to Pa & all the Berkeley men – Kate came in Eve. 
Jan 30th – Monday, Snowing but has cleared off. Kate did not go to school. Heard from cousin  
 Mary about Pa 
Jan 31st – Tuesday, The man came to say the cattle are to stay longer so I suppose I’ll have to  
 ____. Frank went to haul wood for himself. 
Feb. 1st – Wednesday, Frank left without a word. I hired Clarence by the month til Pa comes –  

Killed the firm little hog R. helped. Kate came from school having spent the night at Mill 
Park. Got 5 gals. Oil from Mr. Gossom. 

Feb. 2nd – Thursday, Peter walked up to tell us about Jenel being sick & we were very much  
distressed that night. Mrs. Rust telephoned me she was dead & I could not tell Kate & 
Peter later got Miss Macy to tell her. We both wept ourselves nearly to death. It was 
Peters birth day & if him even remembers 

Feb 3rd – Friday, Kate went to school & got me to phone Mr. Rob about Jenel & to say she ---- 
Feb 5th – Sunday, She & myself went to Church & came right back after a shower in a thn.  
 Storm.  
Feb 6th – Monday, N. Walker up – I paid Thompson 60 cents for getting ice – Man came to see  
 about cattle & said he could not take them earlier. Man came for cattle Feb. 10th -   I  
 loaned a dollar for Jinny from Uncle & $3 to send to the mill & $1 for Clarence. 
Feb. 14th – I borrowed from Mr. Smith $17, paid $5 to Mr. Ran smith for fodder – paid $1.25 for 
groceries. Jinny .25 & .50 to Willis Foley for two shocks of fodder.  

Paid Mr. Mountjoy on 18th $10.00 -  Paid Alice same day $2.00. Got check from Pa for  
 thirty dollars. Paid Mr. Smith back in full of $17 I borrowed.  
Paid Clarence $5.00 on the 20th 



Paid Otis Latham for hay $15 ten for myself & $5 for salt on the 22nd   
Paid Mr. Geo. Mayhugh for rail gutters $6.50 on the 24th  
Paid Eppa Pritchell for Jinny’s shoes 1.25 on 23rd Paid -   
Mr. Burr Powell .50 cents in full March 1st  
I paid Uncle back & then got for Clarence $5 & for Alice $2, for Jinny .30 cents & to  

send Mr. Powell .25 cents owe him in all $7.55 – Box salve .20  now owe him 
6.30. Changed the ten dollar bill –  

Paid Mr. Kloman for Uncle 1.00 
Paid Alice for Robert 2.00 for meal, bread, collecting & express – Am to get back 30  
 Cents -       $2.00 
1 to Kate for butter & flour     1.00 
1 to Jinny for groceries .58 she had the .42 cts over 
1.00 to Mr. Gossom for coal oil and leather   1.00 
.75 cents to Albert for keeping ___ hay     .75 
.36 to Mr. Lynn for sugar       .36 
Paid Walter on shed      1.00 
I paid D. Hutchison for Jinny $3,50 & got receipt 
 
 
DAY BOOK – 1906 
 
Jan 1 – Lanier came 
Jan 2 - at home 
Jan 3 – went to Thoroughfare 
Jan 4 – at home 
Jan 5 – Andrew got 2 bar corn $5.00 
Jan 6 – at home, snow, Mr. Allen load fodder $2.60 
Jan 7 – at home 
Jan 8 – at home 
Jan 9 – at home 
Jan 10 – at home 
Jan 11 – at home 
Jan 12 – sent Mountjoy 4 2/3 bar corn $11.67 
Jan 13 – paid Lizzie $1 
Jan 14 - sent Mercer Garret rent 20 ck 
Jan 15 – at home 
Jan 16 – at home 
Jan 17 – at home 
Jan 18 – paid Frank Lansdown through Lynn $4, paid Lizzie $1 being .25 on next week 
Jan 19 – Ed Leonard 1 bar corn $2.50 due 
Jan 20 – went to Thoroughfare & got new wheels, paid David Barmore $12 (Katie) $12 
   Mr. Allen 1 bus meal .60 
Jan 21 – at home 
Jan 22 – at home 
Jan 23 – at home, George L. shelling corn 
Jan 24 – Andrew 1 bus. Meal 60c 



Jan 25 – at home 
Jan 26 - went to Haymarket to Inez Pilchers funeral 
Jan 27 – sent Jas Pickett forty -  bus. corn to Janney’s mill at 50c per bus. 
Jan 28 – recd of Jas Smith  $1 
Jan 29 – went to Buckley’s Mill, Mr. Turner got 3 bus ear corn .75 c 
Jan 30 – at home 
Jan 31 - Mr. Turner got 7 bus ear corn 1.75 
Feb 1 – at home, Mrs. Allen 3 bar corn 7.50, Walter Leonard 2 bar corn 5.00 
Feb 2 – Mr. Turner got 2 tubs corn 1.67 & shock fodder 75 & 20 – 95c, went to Mr.  
 Heineken’s and spent day 
Feb 3 –Mr. Turner got 7 bus ear corn 1.75 
Feb 4 – nothing listed 
Feb 5 – nothing listed 
Feb 6 – Mr. Turner got 7 bus corn $1.75, received of Walter on corn $2.00 
Feb 7 – at home 
Feb 8 – getting ice paid Robert $1, paid George $1, went to Mr. Burwell, paid Andrew $1 
Feb 9 – at home, getting ice 
Feb 10 – at home getting ice, received from my daughter Katie check $50 
Feb 11 – save Andrew order to J.B. Ashby for bus of meal .60, Lanier came 
Feb 12 – at home 
Feb 13 – carried Lanier to home 
Feb 14 – at home 
Feb 15 – at home 
Feb 16 – at home 
Feb 17 – Frank Lansdown 1 ½ bus. ear corn 75c 
Feb 18 – at home 
Feb 19 – at home 
Feb 20 – went to my brother Norborne to sandy Moore’s & rec’d a fine old hands  
 birthday present 
Feb 21 – recd of Messrs Turner $10 
Feb 22 – Wm. Holliday ½ bus corn .25 
Feb 23 – paid Lizzie for washing $1 
Feb 24 – at home 
Feb 25 – went to Manassas 7 came back with Henry Cochrans corpse & family 
Feb 26 –  attended Henry Cochrans funeral at Marshall which was one of the largest I  

ever saw. C----- Smith for Andrew Thomas $7 
Feb 27 – Wm. Holliday 1 bus corn 50 
Feb 28 – my birthday went to Washington 
Mar 1 – started at night for Atlanta 
Mar 2 – reached Atlanta & found Julia well & Bucker absent 
Mar 3 – in Atlanta 
Mar 4 – left to Leland 
Mar 5 – reached Elizabeth & found Katie & the children waiting for me all well 
Mar 6 – at Katie’s 
Mar 7 – at Katie’s 
Mar 8 – at Katie’s 



Mar 9 – at Katie’s 
Mar 10 – at Katie’s 
Mar 11 – at Katie’s 
Mar 12 – at Katie’s, Madie came 
Mar 13 – went to Vicksburg & found all well 
Mar 14 – at Madie’s 
Mar 15 – at Madie’s 
Mar 16 – at Madie’s 
Mar 17 – at Madie’s 
Mar 18 – left for Austin & reached Shreveport 
Mar 19 – reached Austin & found all well 
Mar 20 – in Austin 
Mar 21 – in Austin 
Mar 22 – in Austin 
Mar 23 – in Austin 
Mar 24 – in Austin, left for Vicksburg 
Mar 25 – reached Vicksburg & found all well 
Mar 26 – in Vicksburg 
Mar 27 – in Vicksburg 
Mar 28 – left with Meggie for Greenville 
Mar 29 – in Greenville 
Mar 30 – in Greenville 
Mar 31 – in Greenville 
Apr 1 – in Greenville 
Apr 2 – left with Meg for Leland 
Apr 3 – in Leland 
Apr 4 – in Leland 
Apr 5 – in Leland 
Apr 6 – in Leland 
Apr 7 – left for Atlanta 
Apr 8 – reached Atlanta and left for Oglethorpe 
Apr 9 – reached Oglethorpe & found Douglass & Nancy & ___ well 
Apr 10 – at Oglethorpe 
Apr 11 – at Oglethorpe 
Apr 12 – at Oglethorpe 
Apr 13 – left for Atlanta 
Apr 14 – left for Washington 
Apr 15 – in Washington 
Apr 17 – reached home safe & sound for which God be thanked, found all well & Lucy 

 gone to Harrisonburg 
Apr 18 – paid Andrew $5 
Apr 19 – at home, paid Lizzie $2 
Apr 20 – at home, paid Robert $2 
Apr 21 – paid Lizzie $1, paid C. Dawson on shocking corn $2, paid Jenny Baker in full  
 for butter 1.33 
Apr 22 –at home went for Lanier to Haymarket, J. McIntosh 3 head cattle at 50c 



Apr 23 – at home Lanier returned 
Apr 24 – at home 
Apr 25 – at home, paid Lizzie 50c, recd of Walter for 17 ½ lbs mid. $1.75 
Apr 26 – at home 
Apr 27 – at home 
Apr 28– paid Lizzie 50c, went to Peters club dinner fall meeting next dinner at Dr. Pan---  
 on May 12, Anderson Thomas got 2 shucks fodder at 20c – 40c 
Apr 29 – at home 
Apr 30 – at home 
May 1 – settled with Wm. Holliday to date by letting have 1 ½ bus corn, paid Anderson  
 $1, let Andrew cow to pasture at 75, Chas skinner bought 21 head yearlings at .75  
May 2 – at home 
May 3 – at home 
May 4 – Mr. Hutchison brought 20 head cattle at 41 per month 
May 5 – paid Lizzie on washing 50c 
May 6 – at home 
May 7 – at home 
May 8 – at home 
May 9 – Lucy got came after nice visit 
May 10 – at home 
May 11 – paid Lizzie 50c 
May 12 – went to Mr. Dupans club dinner 
May 13 – Chas Stokes put his horse to pasture at $1 per month 
May 14 – at home 
May 15 – C. Dawson finished planting corn, paid Lizzie 75c 
May 16 – working road, Self, C. Dawson, Caroline Dawson, Ernest Dawson, Leslie  
 Dawson, Jewell Dawson & plough & team 
May 17 – working road – Self, Chas Dawson, Caroline Dawson, Ernest Dawson, Leslie  
 Dawson & Jewell Dawson, two horse plough 
May 18 – finished working road with Self, Chas Dawson, Caroline Dawson, Ernest  
 Dawson, Leslie Dawson & Jewell Dawson, two horse plough and furnished tools  
 for hands – paid Asbury Butler 75c 
May 19 – Mr. Bonds mare & colt 1.25, paid Lizzie 50c 
May 20 – at home, Chas Landsdown colt pasture $1 
May 21 – Walter & Humphrey shelling corn, Hunphrey 1 mid. 16 ½ lbs. 1.65 Fanny  
 McNeily came, Walter 1 mid. 13 lbs. 
May 22 – sent 50 bus corn to E. Taylor & hired C. Dawson to take it & he got 2 bus corn,  
 Walter & Humphrey shelling corn at 1.25 each per day 
May 23 – at home, sent 50 bus corn to E. Douglass 
May 24 – C. Dawson had team & hauled lumber for Turner, paid Fred Jackson $1, Mr.  
 Bond another horse to pasture $1 
May 25 – at home, sent J. Basby 20 bars corn that sold him & he had paid for 
May 26 – attended club dinner at Mr. B---- & spent the night, next dinner at Mr. Peters  

on June 16, paid Rector repair on buggy $1 & get due 1.25, paid Butler .50, paid 
Phil Dawson for shoeing jack 40c 

May 27 – came from Mr. B----- to church & heard Samble put due bill in plate 50c for  



 me  
May 28 – at home good rain 
May 29 – at home 
May 30 – sent 20 bus corn to E. Douglass, C. Dawson __ bus shelled corn at 20c, sent 1  

__ corn to Fred Jackson $2.50 & got 2 shucks at 3 $6.00, went to Manassas to 
meet C-----, paid Brag taxes including my road claim at $25 - $70.68, for Robert 
Landsdown $3,82, Mrs. Allen $1.75, received of C. A. Turner money ___ $8.00 

May 31 – paid Robert $1.00 
Jun 1 – at home, paid Mamie Dawson for 6 chickens 
Jun 2 – at home, paid Lizzie $1.00, & paid Fred Jackson bal. on shoats $5.00 
Jun 3 – went to meet Lanier who did not come 
Jun 4 – received of Butler Baker for pasturing calf 2.00, paid Alice for 4 chickens $1.00,  
 Chas Dawson 1 mid. 15 lb. $1.50 
Jun 4 – Hutchison took his cattle and paid $20, Walter 5 lb. mid. 55c 
Jun 6 – at home 
Jun 7 – went to Loudoun Horse Show with Kate Belches & spent the night at E. B.  
 White’s, I believe where I had slept 70 years before 
Jun 8 – came to Sandy Moore’s to dinner & then home 
Jun 9 – at home, severe rain, paid Lizzie 75c, paid Alice for chicken 75c 
Jun 10 – went to Haymarket to meet Lanier 
Jun 11 – at home 
Jun 12 – attended Miss Mary Rust’s wedding 
Jun 13– at home, J. McIntosh paid $1.50 
Jun 14 – heard of the death of Melton H. Bell one of the best men that ever lived and a  
 devoted friend to me 
Jun 15 – at home, Chas. Stokes paid pasturage of mare $1 
Jun 16 – Chas Dawson 8 ¼ lbs mid. 83c, paid Lizzie for washing $1, paid Mrs. Allen on  
 chicken due 70c, Eva & Kittie came 
Jun 17 – at home, rain 
Jun 18 – took Eva & Kittie to train 
Jun 19 – at home 
Jun 20 – at home 
Jun 21 – at home 
Jun 22 – went to Whist party at Mr. Heineken’s  
Jun 23 – paid Lizzie $1 
Jun 24 – at home 
Jun 25 – Walter made pig pen, Walter 3 lbs 2 oz meat & bus shaker 8 
Jun 26 – at home, rain 
Jun 27 – at home 
Jun 28 – the card club met at Evergreen & had a full after dance 
Jun 29 – at home 
Jun 30 – paid Lizzie $1 
Jul 1 – at home 
Jul 2 – at home 
Jul 3 – at home 
Jul 4 – at home 



Jul 5 – at home 
Jul 6 – at home 
Jul 7 – at home 
Jul 8 – at home, paid Lizzie 85c 
Jul 9 – at home 
Jul 10 – at home, received of Ive McIntosh pasturage 1.50 
Jul 11 – sent Robert 50c, went to Mr. Depauw’s 
Jul 12 – at home, Dawson hauling ties 
Jul 13 – at home, Dawson hauling ties 
Jul 14 – attended club dinner at Dr. Clarkson all present, next dinner at Mr. Dodges on  
 Aug 19th, Lanier & Mr. French came 
Jul 15 – T. Stokes brought mare back to pasture 
Jul 16 – at home 
Jul 17 – at home 
Jul 18 – went with Katie to Manassas Horse show, spent the night at Mr. Browns 
Jul 19 – at Horse show came home 
Jul 20 – at home 
Jul 21 – paid Lizzie $1, Willie came 
Jul 22 – at home 
Jul 23 – at home 
Jul 24 – borrowed of J. B. Ashby $3 
Jul 25 – went to Manassas to put my granddaughter on the train, spent the night in  
 Manassas Hotel 
Jul 26 – went to Comptons to meet the officers who came to secure ground for  

monuments. Convinced association to become active in establishing Battle Park at 
Manassas Battle Field. Elected vice president. Dined with officers at Alex 
Comptons 

Jul 27 – paid Lizzie $1, paid J. B. Ashby $1, due him $2 
Jul 28 – at home 
Jul 29 – at home 
Jul 30 – went to mill paid Ashby 65c, owe him 1.35, paid Ashby change due 25c 
Jul 31 – Clarence Thomas & Al Mathews came  
Aug 1 – attended meeting UDC with Lucy at Henry Lynn’s 
Aug 2 – at home, sent to mares to El Addie 
Aug 3 – at home, sent to mares to El Addie 
Aug 4 – Dawson broke wagon wheel 
Aug 5 – at home 
Aug 6 – at home 
Aug 7 – at home 
Aug 8 – Eno Heineken died, went to Mill Park 
Aug 9 – attended funeral of Eno Heineken 
Aug 10 – received of Traverse Stokes $1 for pasturing, went to UDC at Mr. Hutchison’s  
 & read Dr. Ellzeys poem The Flag of the South Cause 
Aug 11 – received of Chas Skinner on pasturing ck. $9 
Aug 12 – paid Jas Ashby in full $1.35, to Lizzie for washing to date $2 
Aug 13 – went to see Mr. Burwell 



Aug 14 – borrowed of Jennie Baker $3 
Aug 15 – at home, Bu of Jos Smith for 6 Weeks $25.27 
Aug 16 – at home 
Aug 17 – at home 
Aug 18 – at home, paid Lizzie 30c 
Aug 19 – at home 
Aug 20 – at home 
Aug 21 – at home, went to Hickory Grove 
Aug 22 – received of Chas Lansdown $3 
Aug 23 – paid Jenny Baker___ for $3 
Aug 24 – sold  Jenny Baker 18 bar corn 6 long and 4 short for (delivered) $17 & 60  
 shocks fodder delivered at 15c 9 & rec on same 1.50 
Aug 25 – received of J. McIntosh pasture $3 to Aug. 22nd , paid Lizzie including .25 for  
 Kate $2 
Aug 26 – at home 
Aug 27 – at home, went to funeral of Mr. Dodge’s settle box 
Aug 28 – at home 
Aug 29 – at home 
Aug 30 – at home 
Aug 31 – at home 
Sep 1 – at home, paid Lizzie $1, received present from dear Lanier 
Sep 2 – at home, paid Humphrey 35c due 25 
Sep 3 – at home, sold corn to K. Lynn for $20 and molasses barrels 
Sep 4 – at home 
Sep 5 – at home 
Sep 6 – Gossom hands cut 5 small trees over line & he is to pay me for them $5 & I  
 bought 4 small pigs at 1 each 
Sep 7 – at home 
Sep 8 – paid Lizzie $1.04 
Sep 9 – received of C. Dawson hauling $1.40 
Sep 10 – at home 
Sep 11 – threshed wheat 
Sep 12 – finished threshing, Robt made 290 bus & W. Foley 222 ½  
Sep 13 – at home, gave Lucy for Smith $5, paid Hunphrey balance25c 
Sep 14 – Dawson took load of apples to cider press is to bring me a barrel cider, paid  
 Lizzie $1 
Sep 15 – received of Turner balance 50c & are to let him have 70 shocks fodder at 13c ,  
 10 barrels good corn at 1.85 delivered & 3 bar short at 88c 
Sep 16 – at home 
Sep 17 – at home 
Sep 18 – at home 
Sep 19 – at home 
Sep 20 – went with brother N to dinner at P. L. Burwell’s & met Geo. Burwell & &  
 invited to birthday M Clarke Oct 17 
Sep 21 – received of Robt. $23.55 to take up fertilizer note. Went to Manassas & took up  



Hess & Company note for $47.05, received check of Oscar Hutchison for $24.75 
in full of wheat, got Mrs. Allen’s check $24 cashed for me & paid her the same 

Sep 22 – paid Mrs. Allen $24 
Sep 23 – at home 
Sep 24 – rec. of Robert for boarding horse $1.25 
Sep 25 – at home went to DePauw 
Sep 26 – at home, little Lucy came 
Sep 27 – at home 
Sep 28 – at home 
Sep 29 – Dick Cox and Eva  came, paid Lizzie $1 
Sep 30 – at home 
Oct 1 – at home, rain 
Oct 2 – sent Geo. Mayhugh 20 bus seed wheat he to put same in mill when he threshes 
Oct 3 – at home 
Oct 4 – at home 
Oct 5 – paid Lizzie $1 
Oct 6 – borrowed of Jos Smith $5 to be returned in a few days & sold him for Jas Smith  
 35 shocks fodder at 20c a shock 
Oct 7 – at home 
Oct 8 – took colt to Mr. DePauw & took Katie Scruggins home with regret as she is a  
 very useful girl gave L-- $6 to settle up with her  
Oct 9 – sent 89.32 bus wheat to Waverly Mill & O. C. Hutchinson sent checks for $15, 

sent check for 5 dollars to Jas Smith, received of Charles Landsdown pasture colt 
$2 

Oct 10 – at home 
Oct 11 – at home 
Oct 12 – at home, sent check to Riden & Co. for plank 2.50 
Oct 13 – paid Lizzie $1 
Oct 14 – at home 
Oct 15 – at home 
Oct 16 – at home 
Oct 17 – received check of O. C. Hutchison in full of wheat $20.22 
Oct 18 – borrowed saddle & bridle of Mr. DePauw to ride in parade 
Oct 19 – at home 
Oct 20 – went to Wellington to meet delegation from NY & acted as Marshall, made  
 address at service 
Oct 21 – at home 
Oct 22 – went to Leesburg to reunion of 8th Va. Regt.  met Gen Hunton & some 40 of the  

old 8. Had a very pleasant time & organized a permanent organization to be called 
the Berkeley 8 Va. Regt. Camp. I was elected Commade , Lewis Shumate vice 
Commade, U. E. Sanett adj. & John Hutchison treas. I made an address & spent 
night with Robt. Humptine 

Oct 23 – came by Jno Ewells to attend his golden wedding 
Oct 24 – at home, Bob Mayhugh got 2 bus corn, due 
Oct 25 – paid Lizzie $1 
Oct 26 – at home 



Oct 27 – went to Andrew Lewis club dinner and spent the night 
Oct 28 – heard excellent service from Mr. Gamble 
Oct 29 – at home, my darling boy Lanier sent me a present 
Oct 30 – paid Ernest for milking $1 
Oct 31 –at home 
Nov 1 – at home 
Nov 2 – at home 
Nov 3 – paid visit to Mr. DePauw, Mr. Heineken & Mr. Dodge, paid Lizzie $1 
Nov 4 – at home 
Nov 5 – paid Ernest for Melky $1, Martin commenced seeding 
Nov 6 – at home, went to election & voted for Rixey 
Nov 7 – at home 
Nov 8 – at home 
Nov 9 – received of Wm. Leonard on b corn $7 
Nov 10 – gave Robert to take up none for drill $16, paid Lizzie $1 
Nov 11 – at home 
Nov 12 – at home, H. M. Hall got 10 bar corn 
Nov 13 – Mr. Hall got 10 b corn & settled balance $34, paid Ernest $1 
Nov 14 – sent J & J to ___ note at 90 days, new note for 4170 & sent 3 checks and  
 $32.30 
Nov 15 – Chas Skinner took cattle away & paid up in full $10.50 
Nov 16 – went up with Philip Lewis Burwell to Clarke & reached G. W. Bauels 
Nov 17 – in Clarke 
Nov 18 – attended Church at Millwood & met Mary Gelatrus, dined at Mr. Peter Mayo’s 
Nov 19 – cousin Lewis Burwell birthday, had a fine dinner & drank many toasts in  
 champagne  
Nov 20 – started for home after a most enjoyable visit & found all well 
Nov 21 – paid Ernest for milking $1, paid Lizzie $1, sent Bob Mayhugh 2 b corn & 2  
 shocks fodder $4.50 
Nov 22 – paid Kile Lynn to date $11, heard of the critical condition of my eldest son at  
 the German Hospital Philadelphia 
Nov 23 – sent  good c--- to Jennie Becker 
Nov 24 – went to meet Richard & stopped at P. L. Burwell’s, sent another load of corn to  
 Travis Stokes making 10 bar long and 1 ½ short also he got 3 loads fodder 
Nov 25 – paid Lizzie $1 
Nov 26– received of Chas Dawson $2.30 my part hauling for C. Scott, paid Ernest  
 milking $1 
Nov 27 – went to Haymarket & sent a hankey to Mrs. French & one to the Cox’s by  
 express & paid same 
Nov 28 – received of Jennie Baker balance $8.34 in corn after deducting her account  
 $8.66, received news that my son was sinking. 
Nov 29 – sold Oscar Hutchison 340 shocks of corn at 90c per shock of which 80 shocks  
 is Dawson’s & 260 shocks mine – Dawson $72 Mine $234 
Nov 30 – received tidings of my beloved son Edmunds death, Oh why was he taken in  
 the prime of his manhood & a poor blasted trunk like myself left 
Dec 1 – laid my beloved son to rest by his mothers side in the graveyard at Haymarket.  



My sons Lanier, Douglas, Julia, Mary, Len, Alfred, Greer & Richard came home, 
3 sets of brothers all Berkeley’s slept in 3 beds – 2 Berkeley’s of 1 generation 
slept together, 2 of 2nd generation slept together, 2 of 3rd generation slept together. 

Dec 2 – At home, Alfred held sunrise communion, paid Lizzie $1, paid Ernest for going  
 for Lanier 50c 
Dec 3 – received of Tyler Bronaugh for check for corn on Angora $50 & sent same to H.  
 E. Warneke , paid Ernest for milking $1 
Dec 4 – at home, received of Robert Mayhugh for 2 bacon $4 
Dec 5 – at home 
Dec 6 – received of Chas Scott for 4 bus corn & 20 shocks fodder $10 due $2 
Dec 7 – at home 
Dec 8 – carried my dear boy Douglas to the train & he gave me a present of $40, I spent  
 night at Cap Rust 
Dec 9 – called to see cousin Philip Burwell, paid Lizzie $1 
Dec 10 – cashed check Mrs. Allen $24, paid Ernest $1 
Dec 11 – at home, killing hogs 
Dec 12 – at home, killing hogs & cutting up meat 
Dec 13– paid Robert $1.26, George 26c 
Dec 14 – at home 
Dec 15 – paid Lynn for roofin $4, received of Asbury Butler $6 on 4 barrels corn $2 due,  

paid Lizzie $1, hauled Traverse Stokes 5 bar corn & 1 ½ nubbin making 15 bar 
corn & 3 bar nubbins and 70 shocks fodder for which he owes 

Dec 16 – at home 
Dec 17 – Dawson carried 9 bar corn to Haxalls 
Dec 18 – went to Henson’s, paid Lizzie $1 
Dec 19 – paid Ernest $1, sold 16 turkeys to Mr. Hunt at 14 cts 195 lbs $27.30 and paid T.  
 R. Galleher bill to date $8 
Dec 20 – received of Traverse stokes $36.00 in full of corn and fodder 7 sent check to  

Bank of Manassas $20 to my credit, sent check to R. A. Hutchison $13.47 for 
insurance 

Dec 21 – at home, sent Possum to Harry Dornham & paid Jordan & Jordan $7 
Dec 22 – Lanier, Richard, Kate & Percy came, settled with C. W. Dawson to date & gave  
 him check on Bank of Manassas for $83 
Dec 23 – at home 
Dec 24 – paid Andrew $5 
Dec 25 – Christmas and a very quiet pleasant one 
Dec 26 – at home 
Dec 27 – attended Miss Jane Forsythe’s funeral 
Dec 28 – at home 
Dec 29 – at home 
Dec 30 – at home 
Dec 31 – Dawson moved out & Martin moved in 
 
 
1907 
Jan 1 – New Years Day, my three granddaughters left 



Jan 2 – my darling boy Lanier left for Alexandria 
Jan 3 – Andrew Thomas got 5 shocks fodder 
Jan 4 – Andrew Thomas got 4 shoats 
Jan 5 – received of Henry Coran $20 in full of rent of Mercer Garrets horse & sent  
 Mercer check for the same 
Jan 6 – at home 
Jan 7 – sent new note of Jannie $225to Manassas & check for $24.57, Gossom got 4 bar  
 corn $8 
Jan 8 – Ed Lenard got ½ bus corn $1 paid, Josh Hall 2 bar corn $4 paid 
Jan 9 – received a check from my darling daughter Katie to help me out 
Jan 10 – Andy Thomas 3 ½ bar corn 2.75  7.58, Peter came 
Jan 11 – at home, paid Lizzie $1 
Jan 12 – at home 
Jan 13 – at home 
Jan 14 – at home 
Jan 15 – at home 
Jan 16 – at home 
Jan 17 – at home, Wm. Holiday bus corn paid 
Jan 18 – went to Washington & spent night at the Cox’s 
Jan 19 – went to Baltimore to speak at banquet & spent night at Mr. Samuels, Responded  

to toast of Con Infantry 7 delivered poem Picketts Charge which was loudly 
applauded. 

Jan 20 – attended J. Dawes Church & heard fine sermon on faith, Dined with J. Dawe and  
others at Mr. __ Chews where I spent night & where my dear granddaughter 
Percy was 

Jan 21 – came to Washington & there to Alexandria & spent night at Mrs. French’s with  
 Lanier & Peter, Whiskey &c. $6.50 
Jan 22 – came home and found all well, ticket going and coming $2.75, saddle &c at  
 Jordans $6.50, paid Lizzie $1 
Jan 23 – at home, Wm. Holiday tub corn 
Jan 24– at home 
Jan 25 – at home 
Jan 26 – at home 
Jan 27 – went to see cousin P. L. Burwell & stopped at Mr. Heinekens 
Jan 28 – getting ice off the pond 3 inches thick, that on the runs 1 ½ thick, Robert,  
 George W. Holiday, John Cole(?) & Martin ½ day each 
Jan 29 – at home 
Jan 30 – at home, went to Haymarket to take box to my darling boy Lanier, Dined with  
 cousin Lewis Burwell 
Jan 31 – at home 
Feb 1 – at home 
Feb 2 – paid Lizzie $1, Billy holiday got balance of corn for __ rails 
Feb 3 – at home 
Feb 4 – snow, received 3 of C. Scott for fodder 
Feb 5 – deepest snow of the winter 1 foot deep 
Feb 6 – at home 



Feb 7 – getting ice, Wm. Holiday ½ day, John Carter 1 day 
Feb 8 – hauling ice J. Carter & Robt, Wm. Holiday 1 tub corn to be paid for in work,  
 filled ice house 
Feb 9 – at home, hauled Mrs. Allen 1 bar corn $2.25 & Walter 2 bar $5.00 for which he is  

to maul 500 rails in part payment, Joe Thomas got 1 bar corn & paid for same 
$2.25 & when I return will let him have 2 tubs at same price 

Feb 10 – at home 
Feb 11 – at home 
Feb 12 – left for Washington ticket $1.30 
Feb 13 – in Washington got ticket to Elizabeth & sleeper ticket $30, paid for 1 doz  
 photographs $11, pair shoes & tie $2.75. presents for children $5.00 
Feb 14 – arrived at Atlanta ___ $2.00 & reached Birmingham lodging $1.25 
Feb 15 – reached Elizabeth & found Kate & My awaiting me & found little Anne sick  
 with croup 
Feb 16 – at Leland 
Feb 17 – at Leland 
Feb 18 – went with Meg to Greenville, ticket and hood 80c 
Feb 19 – in Greenville 
Feb 20 – came back to Leland ticket 30c 
Feb 21 – in Leland 
Feb 22 – in Leland 
Feb 23 – in Leland 
Feb 24 – Madie & Capt. McNeily came up 
Feb 25 – at Leland 
Feb 26 – at Leland 
Feb 27 – at Leland 
Feb 28 – my 83 birthday & Kate had a nice dinner & Meg came out 
Mar 1 – at Leland 
Mar 2 – Capt. McNeily came up 
Mar 3 – went with Capt & Madie to Vicksburg 
Mar 4 – in Vicksburg 
Mar 5 – gave Mary B to buy present for children in Austin $2 
Mar 6 – left for Texas reached Shreveport, ticked $5.25, left for Austin ticket & sleeper  
 $12.00 meals $1.00 
Mar 7 – reached Austin found all well & delighted to see me 
Mar 8 – in Austin 
Mar 9 – in Austin 
Mar 10 – Sunday – attended services morning noon & night 
Mar 11 – in Austin 
Mar 12 – in Austin 
Mar 13 – left for Vicksburg after a nice visit being most affectionately treated by my  

darling Mary who gave me for expenses some $60, ticket to Shreveport $11, 
reached Houston & had to stay all night bill 41.25  

Mar 14 – reached Shreveport and had to spend the night 75c 
Mar 15 – left for Vicksburg ticket $5.25, reached V and found all well 
Mar 16 – in Vicksburg 



Mar 17 – Edmund Berkeley came over & spent the day 
Mar 18 – in Vicksburg 
Mar 19 – left for Leland and found all well including my darling little Anne ticket $2.40 
Mar 20 – in Leland 
Mar 21 – in Leland 
Mar 22 – went to Greenville 30c 
Mar 23 – in Greenville 
Mar 24 – came to Leland 
Mar 25 – in Leland 
Mar 26 – went with Madie to Vicksburg bought 1000 mile ticket $25 
Mar 27 – reached Fort Oglethorpe & found Douglass, Mary & little Kittie well ticket $13 
Mar 28 – In Oglethorpe 
Mar 29 – left for Charlottesville ticket $12 & sleeper ticket $3.50 
Mar 30 – reached Charlottesville 7 found my brother very weak 
Mar 31 – went to Rocklands & found Frank his wife & little baby well & left for  
 Washington where I found the Cox’s & Richard & Lanier well 
Apr 1 – In Washington gave Mary for 3 pictures $5 
Apr 2 – reached home after a absence of 7 weeks found all well, paid Lizzie $2 
Apr 3 – at home 
Apr 4 – at home 
Apr 5 – at home 
Apr 6 – at home, my brother left for Washington 
Apr 7 – at home, snow storm, paid Lizzie 50c 
Apr 8 – took severe cold 
Apr 9 – at home 
Apr 10 – sold Watson some large chestnut trees __ at $4 per thousand 
Apr 11 – at home 
Apr 12 – at home 
Apr 13 – at home, paid Lizzie $1 
Apr 14 – at home 
Apr 15 – at home 
Apr 16 – paid Andrew $1.50, sent Kelly & Co. Richmond $2.50 for 1 gallon peach  
 brandy, Humphrey 2 bushel meal 1.20, Will 2 bus meal $1.20 
Apr 17 – at home 
Apr 18 – at home 
Apr 19 – Homer Bridge 5 shocks damaged feed 60c 
Apr 20 – paid Lizzie 50c 
Apr 21 – went to see cousin P. L. Burwell & Mr. Heineken 
Apr 22 – at home, read telegram of death of Kate McNeily 
Apr 23 – fencing, paid Lenny 25c, paid Andrew $1 
Apr 24 – Philip Smith bought my calf that he had untied(?) 
Apr 25 – paid Jenny 25c, heard of my dear brother W. N. Beckley’s death 
Apr 26 – sold Geo. Grigsby 2 bar corn $6, received check W. Sisson, paid Lizzie per Will  
 $2, went to Middleburg to my brothers funeral, paid Jennie 25c 
Apr 27– went to Manassas to meeting of ex conf. & meeting of Ewell Camp, paid my  



subscription to Manassas Jour. $1, received Fanny’s note in bank & left new note 
& 25.  

Apr 28 – at home 
Apr 29 – bought 9 pigs of Jas Smith at $2 each to be paid by May 27, one of which is for  

Will Leonard, paid Jenny 25c, Chas Skinner bought 4 head cattle to graze at $3.50 
per month for the 4, Lanier came, paid Will Leonard $2 

Apr 30 – at home 
May 1 – at home 
May 2 – at home 
May 3 – paid Lizzie $1 
May 4 – George Grigsby got 2 bu corn $6 paid, turned 3 steers in Petty’s lot at 75c, paid  
 Jenny 25c 
May 5 – Joe McIntosh 2 heifers & 1 mare in Petty’s lot at $2 per month for the 3 
May 6 – paid Will $1, paid Lizzie in full to date $1 
May 7 – working road – W. Leonard, H. Leonard, Tenne Dawson, E. Berkeley, plough &  
 2 horses 3 shovels & pick, paid Jenny 25c 
May 8 – rain 
May 9 – working road – W. Leonard, Tenne Dawson, E. Berkeley $4, Walter Leonard 1  
 day $1, making breaks & opening drains 
May 10 – working road W. Leonard, Walter Leonard, R. Lansdowne, George  
 Lansdowne, E. Berkeley $4 
May 11 – working road, W. Leonard, R. Lansdown, George Lansdown, E. Berkeley $4 
May 12 – at home, paid Lizzie 
May 13 – working road W. Leonard, R. Lansdown, Geo. Lansdown, E. Berkeley & W.  
 Hol--- ½ day $4.50 
May 14 – working road __ Holliday, R. Lansdown, Geo. Landsdown & E. Berkeley ½  
 day $2 
May 15 – at home 
May 16 – at home 
May 17 – paid Will cash $1 Smith $1 
May 18 – Will Leonard 2 bus corn $1.20, May & Mr. Johnson came 
May 19 – at home 
May 20 – borrowed sixty dollars of W. Gossom for 4 months & gave note payable in  
 Manassas Bank received check for $60 
May 21 – at home 
May 22 – went to Manassas to memorial celebration & meeting of C C & elected  
 commander 
May 23 – paid Lizzie to May 28  $2 
May 24 – paid Jas Smith per wife $20 for 9 pigs & the balance to go on wire for division  

fence, gave Lucy for Dick Harris $5.25, gave K. Lynn $5.50, sold fence to O. C. 
Hutchison $20 received payment 

May 25 – at home 
May 26 – at home, sent 27 bus corn to Jas Ashby’s mill, received of Oscar Hutchison for  
 $18 
May 27 – at home 
May 28 – at home 



May 29 – left for Richmond ticket $3, gave Lucy 6.50, paid Jordan & Jordan for wire $6,  
paid taxes self $79.78, Robert Lansdown $4.63, Frank Robinson 1.57, Will 
Leonard 2.12, gave Brag check deposit $45, reached Richmond & received with 
great kindness 

May 30 – attended parade & unveiling J Stuart monument 
May 31 – illegible 
Jun 1 – rain, attended great reception at Jos Willards 
Jun 2 – great parade & unveiling Pres. Davis Monument, attended entertainment at  

Westmoreland church given by Jos Bryan & gave Pickett’s Charge with great 
applause 

Jun 3 – left for home after one of the most enjoyable visits of my life and found all well 
Jun 4 – paid Lizzie $1, paid Will $1.50 
Jun 5 –at home 
Jun 6 –at home 
Jun 7 – started with Kate for Clarke & reached Geo Burwell’s 
Jun 8 – delivered address at memorial at celebration and the Old Church Cemetery,  
 visited Lerybraith in the evening 
Jun 9 – attended services at Millwood Chapel 
Jun 10 – came home & found all well expenses of trip $2.60 
Jun 12 –at home, rain 
Jun 13 –Will Leonard 1 bus meal 70c 
Jun 14 –at home, paid Lizzie $1 
Jun 15 – received of F. Watson check for ___ $8, Lucy went to Washington 
Jun 16– at home 
Jun 17 – Will 7 Billy Holliday getting rails, paid Will through wife 75 
Jun 18 –at home 
Jun 19 –went to election at Waterfall & voted for Carlin for Congress & lion for House of  
 Delegates 
Jun 20 – went to Plains & paid R. A. Cochran balance on oats & seed $15.90 
Jun 21 –at home, paid Lizzie $1 in full to date 
Jun 22– sent check $3 to Mike Lynch, paid Andrew order on George Grigsby $7.50 
Jun 23 –dined at cousin P. L. Burwell’s, Fanny went to Washington 
Jun 24 – at home 
Jun 25 – at home 
Jun 26 – went to Haymarket for Lanier 
Jun 27 – at home, paid Susie Mayhugh for Fanny $55 
Jun 28 – paid Bessie for washing $1 
Jun 29 – attended club dinner at Mr. Depauw’s 
Jun 30 – at home carried Lanier to his train 
Jul 1 – at home received balance of Capt. Herrell on taxes, check 1.95 
Jul 2 – at home 
Jul 3 – at home 
Jul 4 – tried to smoke a pole cat out of the big chestnut tree & it took fire & burned up 
Jul 5 – Robert commenced harvest what very fine, paid Lizzie to date $1, received of  

Fanny money for pig $2.50, Mr. Warnecke & Mr. Hu--- came ------ ---- lent them 
Maude & buggy to go to Haymarket 



Jul 6 – July 5 and July 6 together 
Jul 7 – at home 
Jul 8 – at home, received check Warnecke $2 
Jul 9 – at home 
Jul 10 – sent check $2 & 1 note to Mike Lynch, Robert finished harvest 
Jul 11 – at home, Martin commenced harvest 
Jul 12 – at home 
Jul 13 – club dinner at Mr. Price’s all present 7 had a good time, paid Beale for 2 express  
 perfume 60c, brought Richard up 
Jul 14 – at home 
Jul 15 – at home 
Jul 16 – at home 
Jul 17 – at home 
Jul 18 – received of Joe McIntosh pasture $3.90 
Jul 19 – at home 
Jul 20 – at home 
Jul 21 – at home 
Jul 22 – Wm. Leonard put 2 horses to pasture at $1 each 
Jul 23 – at home 
Jul 24 – at home 
Jul 25 – went to P. L. Burwell’s to see W. Whiting & wife 
Jul 26 – at home 
Jul 27 – attended club dinner at Mr. Browns & spent night 
Jul 28 – attended church at Haymarket & heard Mr. Gamble, paid Lizzie to date $1 
Jul 29 – at home 
Jul 30 – at home 
Jul 31 – at home 
Aug 1 – at home 
Aug 2 – at home 
Aug 3 – paid Lizzie to date $1, Lanier & Eva Cox came 
Aug 4 – at home sick with diarrhea 
Aug 5 – sent for Dr. Hutchison who prescribed for me and relieved me 
Aug 6 – Aug 5 & 6th together 
Aug 7 – much better 
Aug 8 – at home 
Aug 9 – at home 
Aug 10 – attended club dinner at Mr. DePauw, got load of plank 500 ft from Mr. Gossom  
 $2.50 
Aug 11 – paid Lizzie to date in full $1 
Aug 12 – at home 
Aug 13 – at home 
Aug 14 – got 500 foot plank from G at 58c - $2.50 
Aug 15 – at home 
Aug 16 – at home 
Aug 17 – at home 
Aug 18 – at home 



Aug 19 – at home 
Aug 20 – attended funeral of Mathew Anderson a faithful old servant 
Aug 21 – attended funeral of Margaret Mayhugh an old friend, paid Andrew through  
 George Grigsby $7.50 with what he will owe for pasturage will about square us 
Aug 22 – at home 
Aug 23 – at home 
Aug 24 – Jennie Baker $3, my dear son Lanier gave me ten dollars 
Aug 25 – went to Sandy Moore’s & spent the night 
Aug 26 – went to camp meeting on Old Soldiers Day near M-----ville & was put in  

command of all the vets & Marshall, gave $1 to collection for monument & 
recited my poem Picketts Charge in the big camp meeting tent, came back to 
Sandy’s & staid all night 

Aug 27 – came home, paid Lizzie in full 41 
Aug 28 – at home, Lucy went to festival  
Aug 29 – at home 
Aug 30 – at home 
Aug 31 – attended club dinner at Mr. Dodge’s 
Sep 1 – paid Lizzie in full $1 
Sep 2 – at home 
Sep 3 – at home 
Sep 4 – went to Manassas to meeting of Democratic Comm., ticket 60c. whisky 1.50,  

jugs 1.00, received Fanny’s note $19.64 in Manassas Bank for 4 months & paid 
interest making new note $190 

Sep 5 – at home 
Sep 6 – gave Fanny for meal &c 1.25, paid Lizzie $1 
Sep 7 – attended club dinner at Dr. Clarkson’s 
Sep 8 – at home 
Sep 9 – at home 
Sep 10 – attended election at Waterfall & voted for R. E. Thornton? and J. J. Davies, 

received of Mr. Bond in full pasture $2.25 
Sep 11 – at home 
Sep 12 – at home 
Sep 13 – at home 
Sep 14 – Foley Marshall wheat made 100 bus Robert made 
Sep 15 – paid Lizzie in full $1 
Sep 16 – at home, Martin threshed 
Sep 17 – at home 
Sep 18 – at home 
Sep 19 – at home, borrowed of Mrs. Allen $1 
Sep 20 – sold wheat to Beale for 92 cts 7 ordered 5 tons fertilizer, took lunch at Mr.  
 DePauw 
Sep 21 – at home 
Sep 22 – at home 
Sep 23 – at home 
Sep 24 – at home 
Sep 25 – at home got 10 ears? out of Mr. Bond 



Sep 26 – at home, went to Haymarket to meet my darling son Douglass & his wife &  
 little Kittie, my dear son made me a handsome present 
Sep 27 – at home 
Sep 28 – carried Douglass to station & went to club dinner at Mr. Love’s, hard rain & got  
 soaking wet 
Sep 29 – at home 
Sep 30 – Lanier went back & Kate left for new school 
Oct 1 – dined at Mr. Heineken’s 
Oct 2 – at home got 14 bus corn out of Martin’s making 60 ears taken at dinner with a  
 difficulty to swallow 
Oct 3 – phoned for Dr. Hutchison $2.50, Lanier came 
Oct 4 – paid Lizzie $1 
Oct 5 – my darling son Douglass wife & sweet little daughter left 
Oct 6 – received of Fred Jackson for M Garrett $1.75 in shingle timber 
Oct 7 – went to Manassas and qualified as administrator of Margaret Mayhugh, ticket 

40c, dinner 50c horse feed 25c & paid the clerk $2 total $3.15, hauled 3 loads 
wheat to Beale & Peters & got 3 loads fertilizer 

Oct 8 – hauled (blank) loads of wheat to Beale & Peters, paid Will Leonard 50c, gave  
 Lucy to be retained if not used $10 
Oct 9 – at home 
Oct 10 – at home 
Oct 11 – at home 
Oct 12 – attended club dinner at Mr. Hensens on his silver wedding & had an enjoyable  
 time, club presented him with set silver forks, next dinner at Mr. Heinekens 
Oct 13 – walked to Mr. Burwell’s and spent the day 
Oct 14 – at home, received check of Travise Stokes $10 
Oct 15 – went to Haymarket to meet Lucy, paid check & 50 to Will D. for Oscar  

Hutchison in payment of barrel flour Will Leonard got & $6 for a barrel he is to 
give me 

Oct 16 – at home 
Oct 17 – went with Norby to Sandy Moore’s & received of him check for $48.30 & $40  

in gold being his total indebtedness to Margaret Mayhugh & gave receipt for 
same 

Oct 18 – sent Westwood Hutchison check #1269 of Beale & Peters 7 check for 48.30 of  
A. B. Moore to be placed to my credit, sent Mr. Lynch check for $3 for gallon 
whiskey, paid Lizzie $1 

Oct 19 – sold Wm. Gossom bar corn at $2 in the field he to shuck it, Watson finished  
seeding 20 acres wheat , sowed 215 bus wheat & 3 tons fertilizer & is to put 2/3 
of crop in the barn, I to pay for fertilizer & most seed. 

Oct 20 – at home 
Oct 21 – received of Mr. Bond for 10 bus wheat $10 got 3 tons fertilizer home from  
 Beale & 3 bus timothy seed sold to Leonard, 1 shock corn 90c 
Oct 22 – sent to R. S. Cockran plows check for $15.30 for 18 bus seed rye, sent check to  

(blank & blank  Charlottesville for china $6.50, sent check to Galleher $20, my 
dear boy Lanier gave him $10 

Oct 23 – went ot Haymarket and paid Jordan & Jordan check $25 



Oct 24 – at home 
Oct 25 – at home 
Oct 26 – attended club dinner at Mr. Heinekens, paid Peter my share of present to Hensen  
 $2.95, My club dinner to come off on the 9th November, gathering up apples 
Oct 27 – at home 
Oct 28 – paid Lizzie $1 
Oct 29 – bought 1 bushel chestnuts from Gossom $3.20 
Oct 30 – at home, attended marriage of Rev. M. Colena & Miss Gali---at Ewells Chapel 
Oct 31 – same as October 30 
Nov 1 – gave Dr. F. Hutchinson check $44.40 in full of his account against the estate of  
 Margaret Mayhugh. His bill was $57 but he made a deduction 
Nov 2 – at home 
Nov 3 – at home 
Nov 4 – went to Haymarket got check cashed by Mountjoy $12, sent check to Mrs.  
 French $6, __ Scroggins got colt paid $4 
Nov 5 – Mrs. Allen got 2 b corn $5 sent to Jordan & Jordan for metal roofing, attended  
 election 
Nov 6 – at home, paid all at Hensen’s & Mr. Heineken’s, paid him for wine $2.50, Mrs.  
 Allen load fodder $ (no amount given) 
Nov 7 – at home 
Nov 8 – received of Jonny Baker on corn $5, paid Lizzie $1 
Nov 9 – club meeting here & it was highly complemented, all present but Dr. Clarkson 
Nov 10 – at home 
Nov 11 – at home 
Nov 12 – at home 
Nov 13 – Jennie Baker got 5 shocks fodder & 1 tub of corn $1.70 
Nov 14 – Bessie left, paid Lizzie $1 
Nov 15– received of Jennie Baker $5, paid Will Lenard 2 bar corn $4 
Nov 16 – went to Manassas, Traverse stokes got 5 bar corn $10, drew out of Bank $15 
Nov 17 – went to Hopewell to see Sam Owen, Will Scroggins paid 75c balance on ___ 
Nov 18 – rain 
Nov 19 – at home, received of W. Holliday $2.75 for a barrel of corn he is to get 
Nov 20– at home 
Nov 21 – paid Gossom for lumber & interest on note & receive pay for 2 bar corn $7 &  
 gave new note for $60 at 12 months 
Nov 22 – at home 
Nov 23 – at home, Traverse Stokes 5 bar corn & 25 shocks due fodder 
Nov 24– at home 
Nov 25– paid Lizzie $1 
Nov 26 – Traverse Stokes got 10 shocks fodder 15c & I sold Sarah Scott 20 shocks at 25c  
 received payment $5 
Nov 27 – sold Humphrey 1 tub corn received 90, Percy came, sent Mr. Gamble turkey 
Nov 28 – Thanksgiving Lanier went to meet Mrs. French, sent Mr. Gamble 2 bar corn 
Nov 29 – Sarah Scott got 20 shocks fodder, Will Leonard got 4 bar corn $10 
Nov 30 – Lanier left I gave him $3, gave Jas Rookward 1 bar corn for cider press, paid  
 Traverse Stokes got corn 



Dec 1 – Will Leonard 4 bar corn $10 
Dec 2 – Billy Holiday got 1 bar corn due $2.25 
Dec 3 – at home 
Dec 4 – Mrs. Allen got 2 bar corn $5.00 
Dec 5 – received check 90 days pasturing $80 
Dec 6 – sent check $80 to Manassas Bank, sent M Lynch check $6 
Dec 7 – borrowed check of Lucy $20, started for Winchester, got Lucy’s check cashed by  

(not legible), got check cashed at Jordan & Jordan $23, got Norby’s postal order 
cashed $5, reached Winchester & paid to E. Warnecke check $40, bought ticket to 
Columbia & return & Pulman ticket 24 & 3 $27 

Dec 8 – went to Alexander & spent night with Lanier 
Dec 9 – came to Washington & saw Conley(?) & son Daniel and lunched with latter 
Dec 10 – left for Columbia at 10 P.M., Lanier going with me to Alexandria gave him to  
 get oysters $3 
Dec 11 – reached Columbia 3 P.M. & was joined by Julia Alfred & Mary Sue , reached  

Sample (?) about 5.30 & supped at Mr. Mamigs where I met my intended 
granddaughter & family & was delighted with her & her parents & family, 
reception at Mr. Manigs in fine style. 

Dec 12 – saw my dear grandson happily married & had a fine reception after the wedding  
& met many interesting people none were more so than the Bishop Cheshire who 
performed the ceremony & his sister Miss Kate 

Dec 13 – left for home & joined at Columbia by Alf & wife & came on to Manassas  
 where they went on to Washington & I reached home at 1 A.M. finding all well. 
Dec 14 – snow, Jenny Baker got during my absence 4 bar & ½ of corn & Will Leonard 4  
 & 1 bus $10.25 
Dec 15 – at home 
Dec 16 – Alfred & wife came 
Dec 17 – at home 
Dec 18 – Alfred & wife left, paid Lizzie to date $1 
Dec 19 – killed 8 hogs 
Dec 20 – cutting up hogs, Traverse Stokes got 10 bar corn at 2.25 a barrel & is to pay the  
 same for the balance, paid check for $15 
Dec 21 – Traverse Stokes got 10 bar corn at 11 paid check, sent check for 15 & 20 to  
 West Hutchison & gave Lucy check for $10 & J. E. Beale check for $2 
Dec 22– at home 
Dec 23 – at home 
Dec 24 – went to Haymarket to meet Lanier, paid M----- 1.52 for oysters, cashed check   
 for $8, paid Lizzie $1, attended funeral of Mrs. Spencer Buckner, roads very bad 
Dec 25 – XMAS at home, paid Will Leonard to take Lanier 50c, Lanier left paid Will for  
 taking him 50c 
Dec 26 – Richard & Percy left, Mrs. McDonald got load straw paid $1.50 
Dec 27 – at home 
Dec 28 – at home 
Dec 29 – at home 
Dec 30 – at home 
Dec 31 – at home, Traverse Stokes got 5 bar corn & paid check $20 



 
1908 
Jan 1, 1908 – carried Kate to train  
Jan 2 – at home 
Jan 3 – Fanny cashed check for $20 and went to West Hutchinson to renew note,  
 Traverse Stokes got 5 bar corn $11.25 
Jan 4 – bargained with Walter & Humphrey Leonard for the year to take the lease & put  
 in crops and share equally & do the necessary work on the farm, paid Lizzie $1 
Jan 5 – Traverse Stokes got 5 bar 2 tubs corn making 55 bar & paid check for it$35  
 making 100 paid & due on corn and fodder 
Jan 6 – paid Caroline for Lucy $1,  sent check to West Hutchison to renew note $20 
Jan 7 – attended Gen Galleher’s funeral 
Jan 8 – at home 
Jan 9 – at home 
Jan 10 – sent check for $35 to Westwood Hutchison for $35, sent check to H. E. Warneke  

balance on corn $25 7 check to M. Lynch $3, gave Lizzie check for $2 in full of 
washing & received $1 

Jan 11 – at home 
Jan 12 – at home 
Jan 13 – sent Bodmer $5 by Humphrey to pay repair on wagon 
Jan 14 – at home 
Jan 15 – received check of Traverse Stokes $31.40 in full of corn & fodder, paid T. R.  
 Galler by check in full $10 
Jan 16 – Billy Holiday got 15 shocks fodder $2.25 
Jan 17 – Jas Owen took cattle home due me $68.25, Traverse Stokes got balance of his  
 fodder, received of W. Holliday on corn & fodder $2.25 due $2.75 
Jan 18 – went to Manassas deposited check $31.40, took out of bank $10, attended  

celebration of Gen Lee’s birthday an spent night with R. H. Hixson, paid for 
shoes (Warrenton) $3.50, whiskey $1.50, Med for Mrs. Allen $1.50, paid Jenny 
$1.00 

Jan 19 – came home paid Norby $1 
Jan 20 – at home 
Jan 21 – at home 
Jan 22 – at home 
Jan 23 – at home 
Jan 24 – W. Leonard made a pig pen 
Jan 25 – at home 
Jan 26 – went to Manassas & spent night at Mr. Rounds 
Jan 27 – went to Richmond on comments to the legislature, received $10 for expenses,  
 reached Richmond & visited legislature, ticket $2.65 
Jan 28 – attended meeting of committee & interviewed prominent member 
Jan 29 – reached Alexander & spent night with my dear boy Lanier & grandson Peter,  
 reached home & found all well, paid Lizzie $1 for washing 
Jan 30 – my expenses on the trip just mentioned $10 
Jan 31 – at home 
Feb 1 – paid Lizzie in full $1, sent load straw to J. Bashby $2.50 for which the hauling is  



 $1 due 
Feb 2 – at home 
Feb 3 – cutting ice 
Feb 4 – hauling ice, filled in house, ice 4 inches thick, Will, Frank & Billy Holiday ½  
 day, got gallon whiskey from Jas Ashby for which I paid in straw 
Feb 5 – at home 
Feb 6 – at home 
Feb 7 – sow had 6 pigs, Ashur Thomas 5 bar corn at $3 received payment $15 
Feb 8 – Mrs. Allen 1 bar corn $3 
Feb 9 – at home 
Feb 10 – at home 
Feb 11 – went to Washington ticket $1, left horse at Braggs 
Feb 12 – Sen. Carlin & Sen. Daniel came to Alexandria & spent night 
Feb 13 – home find all well 
Feb 14 – received check of J. J. Owens for corn $68& sent same  to Westwood  
 Hutchison, received of Ashur Thomas $1.50, paid Lizzie $1 
Feb 15 – at home 
Feb 16 – at home 
Feb 17 – Wm Holliday 1 tub corn $1, gave Fanny check on Manassas $9.65 
Feb 18 – sent Jordan & Jordan check $12 on Bank of Manassas 
Feb 19 – at home 
Feb 20 – paid Dr. Hutchison in full $2.52 for self & for medicine Mrs. Allen 50c, paid  
 Lizzie $1, received of my dear boy Douglass check $25 
Feb 21 – at home, sent Lanier check $5 
Feb 22 – Gossom got 4 tubs corn $4 
Feb 23 – went to cousin Burwell’s on horseback had a stinging in the bladder, sent for  
 Dr. Hutchison who relieved me with a catheter & staid all night 
Feb 24 – got catheter removed pain stopped, sent T. R. Galleher $15  
Feb 25 – at home 
Feb 26 – at home 
Feb 27 – sent check to Mercer Garrett $7.50 for chestnut sold Watson 
Feb 28 – sent Beale check in full $8.28, received of dear Mary Bell $10 
Feb 29 – my 84 birthday & had a __ day, Lanier, Peter, Kate, Miss Maude Ewell, Miss  

Nelly Ewell, Mr. Heineken & Mr. Henson spent the day – received many nice 
testimonials 

Mar 1 – at home 
Mar 2 – at home 
Mar 3 – received of D. Coram balance of rent $15, for Mercer Garnett & sent check $15  
 & sent West Hutchison check $25 to be placed to my credit, paid Lizzie $1 
Mar 4 – at home 
Mar 5 – at home 
Mar 6 – at home 
Mar 7 – at home, paid Lizzie $1 
Mar 8 – at home 
Mar 9 – at home, cashed check for Lizzie $2 
Mar 10 – at home 



Mar 11 – Billy Holiday 1 bus ear corn 30c, sent M. Lynch check for Galleher $3 
Mar 12 – paid Walter Humphrey for laying manure in garden $1.50 
Mar 13 – at home 
Mar 14 – paid Lizzie $1 
Mar 15 – at home 
Mar 16 – at home 
Mar 17 – at home 
Mar 18 – at home 
Mar 19 – received of Wm. Holliday $2 and let him have 2 bus corn 
Mar 20 – at home 
Mar 21 – my darling son Lanier came, paid Lizzie $1 
Mar 22 – at home 
Mar 23 – rain 
Mar 24 – let Will have 1 bar damaged corn $1.50, received $1 due Su 
Mar 25 – paid T. R. Galleher $6,52 for __ & corn &c 
Mar 26 – at home 
Mar 27 – at home, Will Leonard got 1 bus potatoes 
Mar 28 – at home, Humphrey got 3 peck potatoes 
Mar 29 – paid Lizzie $1 
Mar 30 – at home 
Mar 31 – my brother Norborne birthday, Peter here 
Apr 1 – at home 
Apr 2 – at home 
Apr 3 – W. Gossom got tub of corn in full of $5 lent me 
Apr 4 – paid Lizzie $5, sent Mr. Lynch check $3 
Apr 5 – at home 
Apr 6 – at home 
Apr 7 – at home 
Apr 8 – at home 
Apr 9 – at home 
Apr 10 – at home 
Apr 11 – at home, paid Lizzie $1 and gave check for $2 
Apr 12 – at home 
Apr 13 – at home, cashed check 29 for Fanny 
Apr 14 – sent Lucy to get check from Lanier $21 
Apr 15 – at home had cold 
Apr 16 – my darling daughter Kate ------ 
Apr 17 – nothing written 
Apr 18 – nothing written 
Apr 19 – paid Lizzie $1 
Apr 20 – at home 
Apr 21 – at home 
Apr 22 – at home 
Apr 23 – at home 
Apr 24 – at home 
Apr 25 – at home 



Apr 26 – at home, Dr. Tulloss came 
Apr 27 – Dr. Tulloss came to see me 
Apr 28 – on bed 
Apr 29 – Dr. Tulloss came to see me 
Apr 30 – nothing written 
May 1 – Dr. Tulloss came 
May 2 – paid Lizzie $1, my dear daughter gave me a present 
May 3 – at home 
May 4 – at home 
May 5 – at home 
May 6 – at home 
May 7 – at home 
May 8 – at home 
May 9 – at home 
May 10 – at home 
May 11 – sent Mr. Warneke power of attorney to vote my appal----, paid Lizzie $1 
May 12 – Mary Bland 7 Kittie came 
May 13 – working Mountain Road horses & Wm. Holiday, W. Leonard, Walter Leonard,  
 Humphrey Leonard, George Landsdown, R. Landsdown 
May 14 – working Mountain Road plough & team & Wm. Holiday, W. Leonard, Walter  
 Leonard, Humphrey Leonard, George Landsdown, Carrol Dawson, R. Lansdown 
May 15 – nothing written 
May 16 – paid Lizzie $1 
May 17 – nothing written 
May 18 – working road plough & team & Walter Leonard, Humphrey Leonard, George  
 Landsdown, R. Lansdown 
May 19 – Mary Bland & dear Kittie left much to my regret 
May 20 – working road Walter & Will Leonard two horses and scoop 
May 21 – my darling Katy Teltus & dear little Annie left  
May 22 – at home 
May 23 – paid Lizzie $1 
May 24 – at home 
May 25 – at home 
May 26 – at home 
May 27 – started for Leesburg with Peter staid at Sandy Moore at night borrowed of  
 Norby $8, lent Lucy $1 
May 28 – reached Leesburg and dined with Sen. J. W. Daniel, Sen. Swansent, Judge  

Nicol, at Mrs. E. V. White’s. Delivered address to Confederate Veterans & spent 
night at Robert Humphries. 

May 29 – came home and brought Dr. Ellzey, paid Sandy Moore for Lucy $1.25 
May 30 – attended dinner of the club at Mr. Peters, elected president & my dinner to be  

in October, next dinner at Mr. Depauw’s June 17th  
May 31 – paid Lizzie $1 
Jun 1 – carried Ellzey to Sandy Moore’s & spent the day 
Jun 2 – at home 
Jun 3 – W. Beverly came and took Dr. Ellzey home with him 



Jun 4 – attended celebration at Hickory Grove & gave poem Prince William 
Jun 5 – at home 
Jun 6 – at home 
Jun 7 – paid Lizzie $1 
Jun 8 – at home 
Jun 9 – went to Waterfall & voted for Carlin 
Jun 10 – carried Geo. Mayhugh about 2 bus ear corn for my share & heard Carlinius  
 election 
Jun 11 – at home 
Jun 12 – at home 
Jun 13 – Fanny Cox, Eva & Lanier came also Richard 
Jun 14 – went to Haymarket & was confirmed by Bishop Peterkin, God grant I may be a  
 worthy member of his church 
Jun 15 – at home heavy rain, Luty & Ann spent night 
Jun 16 – Janny & Eva and Lutie & Anne left 
Jun 17 – at home sold Martin my half of old binder for  
Jun 18 – at home 
Jun 19 – at home 
Jun 20 – Lucy left for Washington 
Jun 21 – at home 
Jun 22 – at home 
Jun 23 – at home 
Jun 24 – at home 
Jun 25 – at home 
Jun 26 – at home 
Jun 27 – club dinner at Mr. Depauw’s & I did not get my invitation in time to my great  
 disappointment, Lanier came 
Jun 28 – Lanier & Richard left 
Jun 29 – Lucy came to __ ____ 
Jun 30 – Lucy got home to our great delight 
Jul 1 – at home 
Jul 2 – at home 
Jul 3 – Walter got 2 bus corn 
Jul 4 – at home, Lanier came 
Jul 5 – attended church at Haymarket, Lanier left 
Jul 6 – Humphrey got gal jug 25c 
Jul 7 – at home 
Jul 8 – at home 
Jul 9 – received check from my dear son Douglass $25, paid Lizzie in full to date $5  
 check on Manassas 
Jul 10 – sent check to Westwood Hutchison $25 
Jul 11 – at home 
Jul 12 – at home 
Jul 13 – Lucy & I dined at Mr. Heinekens, Mrs. Heineken’s birthday also Douglass 
Jul 14 – at home 
Jul 15 – Peter went to shop at Manassas, gave him a check to get cashed $5 



Jul 16 – Mary Berkeley & Kate came 
Jul 17 – received of Peter $2 due $3 
Jul 18 – went to High Point to ____, Humphrey & Walter got corn 
Jul 19 – at home 
Jul 20 – at home 
Jul 21 – at home 
Jul 22 – at home 
Jul 23 – at home 
Jul 24 – paid Lizzie $1 
Jul 25 – attended club dinner at Dodges next at Dr. Clarkson 
Jul 26 – at home 
Jul 27 – at home 
Jul 28 – at home 
Jul 29 – spent day at Mr. Heineken’s 
Jul 30 – at home 
Jul 31 – Mr. & Mrs. Heineken came 
Aug 1 – received of Martin for old binder $5, paid Lizzie $1 
Aug 2 – at home 
Aug 3 – received of M M Donaldson $2.25 
Aug 4 – at home 
Aug 5 – at home 
Aug 6 – at home 
Aug 7 – at home 
Aug 8 – went to Haymarket to meet Lanier left balance of taxes in ___ ___ $3.80 &  

Humphrey $2.04 ---------- received of J. McIntosh on pasture $1.52, paid Mrs. 
Allen for Lizzie $1 

Aug 9 – at home 
Aug 10 – at home 
Aug 11 – went with Norby to P. D. Burwell’s & spent the day 
Aug 12 – at home, 8 ears making 33 to date 
Aug 13 – received of May Perry for ___ & Mande & colt $5 
Aug 14 – at home 7 R ears 
Aug 15 – horse show check for $6, entrance of Maude & colt 7 r--- ears, attended club  
 diner at Peters next at DePauw 
Aug 16 – at home 
Aug 17 – at home 
Aug 18 – went to Haymarket to meet Mary Len, paid Lizzie $1 
Aug 19 – at home 
Aug 20 – went to H paid Lizzie to date $1 
Aug 21 – at home 
Aug 22 – went to club dinner at Mr. DePauw next at Dr. Clarkson on 29th  
Aug 23 – at home 
Aug 24 – at home 
Aug 25 – attended sale at Jas George’s 
Aug 26 – at home 
Aug 27 – dined at Mr. Heineken’s 



Aug 28 – at home 
Aug 29 – club dinner at Dr. Clarkson’s 
Aug 30 – at home 
Aug 31 – on Robert to date 235 ears 
Sep 1 – carried Humphrey & Maude & colt 
Sep 2 – showed Maude filly Selma & got ___ 
Sep 3 – at home paid Lizzie in full $1.50 & wheat  $2,  
Sep 4 – at home, Bond 10 ears 
Sep 5 – Bond 10 ears, went with Norby to Mr. DePauw’s 
Sep 6 – Bond 12 ears roasting corn 
Sep 7 – Bond 10 ears 
Sep 8 – Bond 13 ears Bond 10 ears 
Sep 9 – My Granddaughter Mary Len Perry & Mary Berkeley left, Bond 7 ears 
Sep 10 – Walter 12 bus corn $1.70, Humphrey 2 bus corn $1 
Sep 11 – Bond 7 ears 
Sep 12 – Bond 9 ears (total to date 96) 
Sep 13 – club dinner at Mr. Heineken’s, paid Mr. Price my ___, paid Lizzie $.50 
Sep 14 – Bond 13 ears, Bond 10 ears 
Sep 15 – Bond 10 ears 
Sep 16 – Bond 10 ears 
Sep 17 – Bond 9 ears 
Sep 18 – Bond 9 ears, commenced threshing wheat, Watson made 200 bus. 
Sep 19 – threshing wheat Robert made 325 bus & Martin made (blank) bus wheat &  

(blank) bus Rye, Bond 7 ears, Martin made 124 bus wheat and 50 bus rye, Willie, 
Lanier & Richard came 

Sep 20 – at home atmosphere dark with smoke, Willie, Lanier & Richard left, Bond 13  
 ears 
Sep 21 – Bond 24 ears 
Sep 22 – sold W. Foley 18 bus rye at 75 $1350, received payment check sent same to W.  

Hutchison & sent check to E. E. Downham for $3, my darling little granddaughter 
& McNeily left to our great sorrow, all loved her, sent E. E. Downham barrel 
sorgam 

Sep 23 – hauled 20 bags fertilizer from Beale’s, sold wheat to Beale & Polen at 94c  
 unfanned 
Sep 24 – gave Lucy check for $5 
Sep 25 – at home 
Sep 26 – delivered 3 loads wheat 64,30,25 bus. to Beale & Peters, attended club dinner at  

Mr. Brown & spent the night, had check cashed $5.50 in full at bank, next dinner 
at Mr. Price’s on Oct 3rd 12.30 o’clock, took Julia to the train 

Sep 27 – attended church at Haymarket & came home 
Sep 28 – rain, paid Lizzie $1, & gave Lucy $3.50 
Sep 29 – sent 85 bus wheat to Beale & Peters 
Sep 30 – 2 more loads wheat to Beale & Peters 
Oct 1 – at home, received of Martin $20 for his part of fertilizer sent it to W. Hutchison  
 & gave O. Hutchison check for barrel flour $5.50, Robert commenced seeding 
Oct 2 – at home 



Oct 3 – club dinner at Evergreen this month got check for $4.50 cashed and got check of  
 Beale $6 
Oct 4 – attended church at Haymarket & dined with cousin P. L. Burwell 
Oct 5 – paid Lizzie $1.50 
Oct 6 – Attended with Norby funeral of Randolph Tyler aged 82 years 2 months at the  
 M------ Cemetery 
Oct 7 – paid Lizzie in full $1 
Oct 8 – at home, bought 1 bus chestnuts from Mr. Gossom $2.62 due 
Oct 9 – at home 
Oct 10 – Robert finished sowing wheat & rye 35 bus. wheat & 2 rye 
Oct 11 – at home 
Oct 12 – at home, Lucy lent me $1 
Oct 13 – at home 
Oct 14 – Lucy left for Manassas, received from Norby $4 
Oct 15 – Bond finished sowing when 25 bus & paid me for 12 ½ bus wheat & 5 bus Rye  
 $16.62 on National Bank of Manassas, went to Manassas 
Oct 16 – attended celebration at Groveton & delivered my poem Picketts Charge which  
 was received with great applause, came home 
Oct 17 – paid Lizzie in full $2 
Oct 18 – paid Mr. Gossom for chestnuts $2.60 
Oct 19 – at home 
Oct 20 – went to Sandy Moore’s and spent the night 
Oct 21 – went to Leesburg to rename Berkeley Camp, elected commander again, Dr.  

Ellzey delivered the address I had a pleasant time, I staid at night with Capt. 
Garrett 

Oct 22 – came home and found all well 
Oct 23 – at home, paid Lizzie in full $1 
Oct 24 – at home, rain 
Oct 25 – at home 
Oct 26 – paid Caroline Mayhugh $3.16 for 63 lbs chestnuts 
Oct 27 – at home 
Oct 28 – sent 66 tons wheat to Beale 
Oct 29 – at home 
Oct 30 – at home 
Oct 31 – received of J. E. Beale $5, attended club dinner at Mr. Lewis’ & spent night next  
 dinner at Hensens on 14th Nov 
Nov 1 – attended church & came home, Lanier came 
Nov 2 – carried Lanier to station, received of J. McIntosh on pasture $2 
Nov 3 – election day voted for U. G. Bryan & C. Carlin 
Nov 4 – paid Lizzie to date $1 
Nov 5 – at home 
Nov 6 – at home 
Nov 7 – dined with cousin P. L. Burwell 
Nov 8 – at home 
Nov 9 – at home 
Nov 10 – started barrels to my 3 daughters & my grandson Alfred 



Nov 11 – attended burial of Mary Landsdown at Olive branch 
Nov 12 – at home 
Nov 13 – paid Lizzie $1 
Nov 14 – attended club dinner at Mr. Heineken’s, awarded cup to H---sh, next dinner  
 Nov. 28 
Nov 15 – at home, received check from Beale in full to date $34.26 
Nov 16 – at home 
Nov 17 – at home 
Nov 18 – paid Gossom for Lucy on note $3.60 
Nov 19 – sent check to C--- & Co. Charlottesville for $3.75 and gave Lucy check for R.  
 Galleher $10.00 & cash $5, gave Lucy check for Jordan & Jordan $10.00 
Nov 20 – J. J. Owens sent 40 cattle to be fed corn 8 checks 85c, paid Lizzie $1 
Nov 21 – Lane & Mary Cox came & Richard, went to see Geo. Mayhugh, F. J. Gossom  
 cashed check $7.50 
Nov 22 – at home 
Nov 23 – sent note to W. Hutchison to be dis------ $100, sent W. Gossom 5 bar corn  
 $11.75 
Nov 24 – at home 
Nov 25 – got 2 doz apples from Gossom he owing me $2.50, sent Mountjoy 5 tubs corn  
 in full of debt 45 and sent calf to Beale & got 10 bus clover seed 
Nov 26 – Thanksgiving Lannie & Tom Hulfish were here hunting 
Nov 27 – went to Haymarket & sent check to Wood & J—Richmond for 10 bus clover  

seed $59.80 and got check cashed for $8.20, sent box chestnuts & apples to 
Douglass paid express  

Nov 28 – club dined here dinner praised roast pig, roast duck, escalloped oysters &c, next  
 dinner at Mr. DePauw in May. Mr. Heineken made a nice present of ___ 
Nov 29 – Lanier, Mary Cox & Peter left, sent check to Dornham 
Nov 30 – Lucy left for Washington to see the dentist gave her a check for $12, paid  
 Lizzie in full $1, sent Gossom for 3 pigs at 3 and 1 duck at 1.75 total $10.75 
Dec 1 – at home 
Dec 2 – at home 
Dec 3 – at home 
Dec 4 – at home 
Dec 5 – got 700 feet plank from W. Gossom 
Dec 6 – at home 
Dec 7 – received check $25 from my darling son Douglass, sent check to W. Hutchison 
Dec 8 – went to Haymarket for Lucy, Lucy paid $1 for Lizzy’s gloves $1 
Dec 9 – at home 
Dec 10 – Bessie left gave Lucy check $5 sent trunk by Wills team 
Dec 11 – at home, Will hauled 2 loads fodder, paid Lizzie to date $1 
Dec 12 – at home 
Dec 13 – at home 
Dec 14 – killed 10 hogs, Robert George, Will Carroll & Jenny helped 
Dec 15 – cutting up meat 
Dec 16 – Albert got hog weighing (blank) & I am to make it up in meat to 200 
Dec 17 – gave Norby check to send Phil $3.15 



Dec 18 – rain, at home, received of my brother from M--- administrator $3.10 
Dec 19 – paid Gustavous Hutchison my fire insurance check $13.47 
Dec 20 – paid Lizzie $1 
Dec 21 – at home, received of Andy on 21 shocks fodder $3 
Dec 22 – received of W. Fowler $1.50 for load of straw 
Dec 23 – at home 
Dec 24 – at home 
Dec 25– enjoyed a great Christmas received of my darling daughter Kate $5 
Dec 26 – at home 
Dec 27 – paid Lizzie $1 
Dec 28 – at home 
Dec 29 – at home 
Dec 30 – Will Leonard 4 bus & 40 lb were at 77cts  $4.52 
Dec 31 – attended Emma Heineken’s funeral 
 
1909 
Jan 1 –at home, paid Lizzie $1 
Jan 2 – at home 
Jan 3 – at home, paid Lizzy $1 
Jan 4 – at home 
Jan 5 – at home 
Jan 6 – sent 20 bus corn to Oscar Hutchison & paid for barrel plum & Albert got his  
 barrel plum, paid Lizzie for Lucy 25c 
Jan 7 – snow 
Jan 8 – snow, at home 
Jan 9 – attended Carrol Latham’s funeral & was taken sick again 
Jan 10 – J. J. Owens sent for his cattle, sent him a bill $322.10, W. E. Mountjoy got 6  
 barrels corn got $2.90, $15 due 
Jan 11 – went to see cousin Lewis Burwell and was taken sick again 
Jan 12 – at home, Will Leonard load of straw 
Jan 13 – received of Mountjoy cash on corn $8 
Jan 14 – W. Foley load of straw $1.50 
Jan 15 – paid Lizzie $1 
Jan 16 – received of Willis Foley for straw $1.50 
Jan 17 – at home 
Jan 18 – gave Howard Bell $4 to send postal ade to E. E. Downham & ck for $3.50 also  
 50 cts for 20 cts in stamps & post 
Jan 19 – at home 
Jan 20 – at home 
Jan 21 – at home 
Jan 22 – at home 
Jan 23 – at home 
Jan 24 – at home 
Jan 25 – sent for Dr. Hutchison who said I had the shingles 
Jan 26 – at home 
Jan 27 – at home 



Jan 28 – received check of J. J. Owens 
Jan 29 – at home, Peter came 
Jan 30 – Lanier, Peter & Richard here, sent check to Manassas Bank 
Jan 31 – Lanier(?) birthday which we enjoyed very much the boys left in the morning 
Feb 1 – at home weather cold, paid Albert check $15.00 
Feb 2 – sent H. E. Warneake check $45.00, Dr. Tullos $26.65, Dr. Hutchison $10.50,  

Jordan & Jordan $33.00, T. R. Galleher $32.00, Mrs. Allen $4.50, Lizzie $3.15, 
Walter 3 dollars cash & check $7.50, Humphrey check $10.00, paid Gossom 
balance on Wagon $20.15 and check $30.00 for a total spent $217.50 

Feb 3 – at home 
Feb 4 – at home 
Feb 5 – Sarah Scott for corn shocks $3 
Feb 6 – M. Brisee & Lucy came also Richard much pleased with little Len’s husband 
Feb 7 – at home 
Feb 8 – at home 
Feb 9 – at home 
Feb 10 – at home 
Feb 11 – at home 
Feb 12 – went to Manassas and drew out of bank $12 made an address on Abraham  

Lincoln to school children at Ruffner School, went to Washington with Mr. 
Round 

Feb 13 – In Washington & went to the capitol with Mr. Round and saw Sen. Scott &  
made arrangement to visit Battlefields at Manassas, Lanier came up & spent night 
with the Cox’s 

Feb 14 – came home and found all well 
Feb 15 – at home 
Feb 16 – went to see an old confederate, paid Lizzie $1 
Feb 17 – sent Tom at Beverly Mills 70 bus corn, W. Holliday got 1 bar corn $3 due, Lucy  
 went to Alexandria 
Feb 18 – at home, received check of Beverly Mills $59.48 
Feb 19 – sent to Beale & Polen 51 bus corn at 65c 
Feb 20 – at home paid Lizzie $1, received check Mr. DePauw $15 
Feb 21 – at home 
Feb 22 – at home 
Feb 23 – sent 2 checks to W. Hutchison $15 & $59.48 for total of $74.48 
Feb 24– at home 
Feb 25 – at home 
Feb 26 – at home 
Feb 27 – received birth 
Feb 28 – my 85 birthday may a merciful God grant me his blessing on it, paid Albert  
 Landsdown check $15 
Mar 1 – sent check to West Hutchison, received of my darling boy Douglass $25 
Mar 2 – rain, sent 7 telegraph poles to Mr. DePauw 
Mar 3 – paid Watson per Lynn $2.50, paid Lizzie $1 
Mar 4 – sent Kate Garnett check for $5 
Mar 5 – sent Mr. DePauw 7 poles 



Mar 6 – paid Lizzie, sent Mr. DePauw 7 poles 
Mar 7 – at home 
Mar 8 – paid Walter in full $1.75 
Mar 9 – at home 
Mar 10 – received of M. Watson for clover seed in full $5.30, commenced sowing clover  
 seed 
Mar 11 – rain 
Mar 12 – sowing clover seed, received of Norby $5 on whiskey due him $1.50 
Mar 13 – paid Lizzie $1 
Mar 14 – at home 
Mar 15 – at home 
Mar 16 – at home 
Mar 17 – at home 
Mar 18 – at home 
Mar 19 – at home, sold Jack to McIntosh 
Mar 20 – pay $25 next Sat & the balance $15 in a few months, received balance on  
 fodder$1.50 
Mar 21 – at home 
Mar 22 – paid Lizzie $1 
Mar 23 – at home 
Mar 24 – at home 
Mar 25 – let Will Leonard have balance of corn 3 bar making 6 bar in full of 2 colts by  
 Zingshase 
Mar 26 – at home 
Mar 27 – at home 
Mar 28 – received check from Thomas McIntosh $21.40 on Jack & he owes $10 to be  
 paid in a few months 
Mar 29 – heard about cousin Lewis as he was greatly sick 
Mar 30 – at home 
Mar 31 – paid Lizzie for last week & this $2 
Apr 1 – paid Albert $10 & $5 due $15 
Apr 2 – at home 
Apr 3 – at home 
Apr 4 – at home 
Apr 5 – received of Mr. Dehold $3 for 2 loads straw & rented him Petty lot $10 
Apr 6 – Billy Holiday got bus corn 75c due 
Apr 7 – at home 
Apr 8 – went to see Peters & Mr. DePauw paid taxes to Bragg $87.54, paid McIntosh  
 money left by son $1 
Apr 9 – at home 
Apr 10 – paid Lizzie $1 
Apr 11 – at home 
Apr 12 – received of Humphrey Gray on  rent $10 
 
Apr 13 – Fanny and Mr. Belches left for Culpepper 
Apr 14 – at home 



Apr 15 – my granddaughter Mary B. McNeily was married 
Apr 16 – sent 56 ½ bus (corn?) to R. Cochran 
Apr 17 – commenced working road with Albert plough & horses, self, W. Holliday & G.  
 Holliday, - My son Edmunds birthday, received check 442.50 from R. Cochran 
Apr 18 – received of Sam Downs ten dollars on 15 bus corn sold him at 70 cents to be  
 delivered when called for 
Apr 19 – sent J. E. Herrell check for $41, Holliday self & R. Landsdown, Humphrey put  
 cow o pasture 
Apr 20 – paid Lizzie $1 
Apr 21 – sent O. Hutchison for bar flour $7, J. McIntosh put colt on pasture 75 
Apr 22 – at home 
Apr 23 – at home 
Apr 24 – at home 
Apr 25 – went to Church & dinner at cousin Lewis Burwell’s 
Apr 26 – worked road plough & team W. Holliday, S. Dawson, Robert Landsdown,  
 Albert Landsdown & self 
Apr 27 – worked road plough & team W. Holliday, George Holliday, Robert Landsdown,  
 Albert Landsdown & self, Philip Smith sent 6 cattle to pasture at $1 per month 
 
Apr 28 – working road plough & team R. Landsdown, Albert S, W. Holliday, G. Ennis &  
 self, paid Lizzie $1 
Apr 29 – went with Lucy to dinner with Mr. Heineken  to meet Mr. Finke? & Mary  

Berkeley & were much pleased with him, got check from Mr. H for $10 for 
currency & sent Kate Garnett 

Apr 30 – Mr. Finke? & Mary B came to dinner 
May 1 – sent sow to Gainesville weighed 270 at 6c received check $16.20 
May 2 – at home 
May 3 – at home 
May 4 – Jas & Chas Scott got load of fodder to be returned this fall 
May 5 – Robert commenced planting corn 
May 6 – at home 
May 7 – Lanier came 
May 8 – at home planted acre & commenced planting crop, gave Lanier $10 check 
May 9 – paid Lizzie $1, dined at cousin Lewis Burwell’s & found him very bad brought  
 Perry home 
May 10 – at home 
May 11 – at home 
May 12 – at home 
May 13 – at home 
May 14 – at home 
May 15 – club dinner at Mr. DePauw’s all present next dinner at Mr. Price’s on June 8th,  
 elected Mr. Brown president 
May 16 – at home 
May 17 – sent check to J. Weddenburn Co. $3.00 
May 18 – paid Lizzie through her mother $1 
May 19 – at home 



May 20 – at home 
May 21 – at home 
May 22 – at home, gave a check to Lucy for $5.25 
May 23 – at home 
May 24 – at home 
May 25 – at home 
May 26 – went to Manassas to meeting of Appalachian Co. paid 2 yrs subscription to  
 Journal $2 
May 27 – paid Lizzie to date $2, Gulick took cattle away paid $6 
May 28 – at home 
May 29 – at home 
May 30 – went to Hopewell to see J. J. Owen but find him unable to see anyone, cousin  
 P. L. Burwell died 
May 31 – went to accompany his remains to the train 
Jun 1 – paid Albert check $10 & 5 dollar bill $15 
Jun 2 – attended meeting of DC V of Mississippi & gave address of Jeff Davis 
Jun 3 – at home 
Jun 4 – at home 
Jun 5 – attended club meeting at Mr. Price’s had nice time next meeting at Mr. Brown’s 
Jun 6 – went to see cousin Sally Burwell 
Jun 7 – at home 
Jun 8 – at home 
Jun 9 – at home 
Jun 10 – at home 
Jun 11 – at home 
Jun 12 – at home, drove Lizzie down to Emma’s child burial 
Jun 13 – at home 
Jun 14 – at home 
Jun 15 – at home 
Jun 16 – at home, paid Lizzie $1 
Jun 17 – at home 
Jun 18 – at home 
Jun 19 – at home 
Jun 20 – received of Humphrey Coram $9 on rent of horse for J. M. Garnett 
Jun 21 – at home 
Jun 22 – paid Lizzie $1 
Jun 23 – ad home received of Norby $3, sent check to J. M. Garnett $10 & Owen Lynch  
 $3.50 
Jun 24 – received of Mr. McDonald $10 rent in full of Petty lot, received of Martha  
 Feltus $5, Mr. Bird commenced harvest 
Jun 25 – at home, Lanier came 
Jun 26 – club dinner at Mr. Dodge, next at Mr. Brown July 17 
Jun 27 – paid Lizzie $1 
Jun 28 – harvesting, severe thunder storm, lightning struck within 30 yards of where I  
 was sitting & cut a locust tree into splinters 
Jun 29 – at home 



Jun 30 – paid Albert in full to date $10 & $5 bill and engaged him for another year 
Jul 1 – paid Lizzie $1 
Jul 2 – at home 
Jul 3 – went with Eva Cox to Sandy Moore’s 
Jul 4 – went to H to meet Lanier, got choked at dinner & had to send for Dr. Hutchison  
 who gave me a hypodermic injection got relief by night 
Jul 5 – at home 
Jul 6 – at home 
Jul 7 – at home 
Jul 8 – went to Haymarket to meet Mary Len? 
Jul 9 – received of J. P. Smith for pasture $10 in full 
Jul 10 – paid Lizzie $1 
Jul 11 – at home 
Jul 12 – at home 
Jul 13 – my boy Douglass’ birthday 
Jul 14 – at home 
Jul 15 – at home 
Jul 16 – at home 
Jul 17 – attended club dinner at Mr. Brown’s & spent the night – next dinner at Mr.  
 Peters 
Jul 18 – came to Haymarket to Church & heard a sermon from Mr. Christian & dined at  
 cousin Sally Burwell’s 
Jul 19 – at home 
Jul 20 – Little Len came, paid Lizzie $1 
Jul 21 – at home 
Jul 22 – attended funeral of Robert Gibson & had ----- 
Jul 23 – Mr. DePauw & daughters spent evening 
Jul 24 – Lad & Jno Hutchison spent day 
Jul 25 – went to Haymarket for Richard, paid Lizzie in full $1 
Jul 26 – at home 
Jul 27 – carried Mary Len to the train, received of J. McIntosh for colt pasturing $2.25 
Jul 28 – at home 
Jul 29 – went with Norby to cousin Sally Burwell’s to dinner with Wm. Whitney & wife 
Jul 30 – at home 
Jul 31 – paid Lizzie $1 
Aug 1 – at home 
Aug 2 – at home 
Aug 3 – at home 
Aug 4 – at home 
Aug 5 – attended primary election at waterfall & voted for Tucker Ellison  
Aug 6 – at home 
Aug 7 – paid ____ in full for beef by check, to Wm. Gossom $5, paid Lizzie $1 
Aug 8 – at home 
Aug 9 – at home 
Aug 10 – paid Lizzie for week lndy 14 $1, received check of Tyler Bronaugh for land  
 bought of J. M. Garnett & delivered deed $100 



Aug 11 – at home 
Aug 12 – at home 
Aug 13 – at home 
Aug 14 – club dinner at Mr. Peters next at Mr. Depauw Aug 21 
Aug 15 – went to Aldie to funeral of Mrs. Robert Moore, rain very much needed  
Aug 16 – sent to Haymarket to meet Jno McNeily who came, received check of Joseph  

Turner for $34.83 which with 15 dollars paid Albert makes $19.83 for hauling to 
date 

Aug 17 – at home 
Aug 18 – at home 
Aug 19 – heard of the birth of my first great grandson Jesse Yeats 
Aug 20 – hauled for E. Spring $4, paid Lizzie $1 
Aug 21 – hauled for E. Spring $4 
Aug 22 – attended club dinner Mr. Depauw next dinner at Evergreen in Sept. 
Aug 23 – at home got roasting ear out of Robt. making to date 55 
Aug 24 – at home got roasting ear Robt. 12 
Aug 25 – at home got roasting ear Robt. 12 
Aug 26 – at home got roasting  Robt. 10 ears, attended funeral of Miss Millie? Wise 
Aug 27 – went to Haymarket to meet Dr. Ellzey 
Aug 28 – went with Dr. Ellzey to reunion of 8th Regt. & met many old comrades, elected  

president again, made an address 7 afterwards by request gave Picketts Charge, 
next reunion to take place July on Manassas Battlefield by invitation of Bull Run 
Chapter W D C 

Aug 29 – at home 
Aug 30 – went with Dr. Ellzey to Sandy Moore’s and afterwards to Miss Ewells 
Aug 31 – Albert hauled 877 feet plank 
Sep 1 – paid Albert check $5 and order on Jno McIntosh $10 balance on Jack, paid Lizzie  
 $1 
Sep 2 – went to Dr. Hutchison with Lucy 
Sep 3 – at home 
Sep 4 – paid Lizzie $1 
Sep 5 – at home 
Sep 6 – at home 
Sep 7 – at home 
Sep 8 – Dr. Ellzey left to our great regret, hauled 780 feet white oak for __ to Haymarket 
Sep 9 – at home 
Sep 10 – at home 
Sep 11 – hauled 540 ft. white oak to Haymarket for ____ , Lucy left for visit to little Len  
 gave her check $5, paid Gossom for beef $1 due 35 cents 
Sep 12 – at home 
Sep 13 – at home 
Sep 14 – at home, received check of Turner $15 
Sep 15 – at home 
Sep 16 – at home 
Sep 17 – at home 
Sep 18 – at home 



Sep 19 – at home 
Sep 20 – my darling granddaughter Martha Felton one of the dearest children I ever saw  

left for home to our great sorrow, paid Lizzie in full $2, sent Lanier check for $10 
& sent check of Turner for $15 to West Hutchison 

Sep 21 – at home, received of Mrs. Allen 25 cents 
Sep 22 – at home 
Sep 23 – went to Sandy Moore’s for Eva Cox 
Sep 24 – got check cashed by Albert $5 & paid express, paid Lizzie $1 
Sep 25 – club dinner all members present but Mr. Depauw & Mr. Brown. Had a nice time  
 & dinner much praised by all, Lanier came at night 
Sep 26 – at home carried Lanier to train 
Sep 27 – carried Julia to train, hauling fertilizer 
Sep 28 – hauling fertilizer 5 tons 
Sep 29 – hauling fertilizer for Robert & self & 7 tons for me 
Sep 30 – at home 
Oct 1 – sold corn with no tail calf to Robert Rust for $38 & received check, paid Albert  
 $15, paid Lizzie one dollar $1 
Oct 2 – at home 
Oct 3 – at home 
Oct 4 – at home 
Oct 5 – at home 
Oct 6 – at home 
Oct 7 – at home 
Oct 8 – went with Lucy to call on Judge Goolwich, Mrs. Gwens?, Mr. S-----, and Mr.  
 Heineken, sold _____ ____ 2 calves at $10 each 
Oct 9 – delivered calves at Gainesville 
Oct 10 – at home 
Oct 11 – at home 
Oct 12 – at home 
Oct 13 – commenced seeding 
Oct 14 – finished seeding, received $2 of Gossom on pasture, paid Lizzie $1 
Oct 15 – at home 
Oct 16 – went to Lewis to club dinner with Mr. Heineken & staid the night at Moss 
Oct 17 – at home 
Oct 18 – at home 
Oct 19 – finished seeding, Robert sewed 47 bushel, Watson 25 bushel, Albert 12 ½  
 bushel, ____ wheat 30 ½  
Oct 20 – at home 
Oct 21 – went to Manassas & drew $2 out of bank leaving balance $3.98 
Oct 22 – sent note to West Hutchison for the Journal on the 27th sold crop of wheat to  

Peters & Beale for $1.16 per bushel, paid Lizzie check $2, sent check of Joe 
Turner to bank $15 & gave Lucy check for $5.05 

Oct 23 – at home 
Oct 24 – at home 
Oct 25 – at home 
Oct 26 – sent 95 bus 40 lb wheat to Beale & Peters 



Oct 27 – sent 64 bus 50 lb wheat to Beale & Peters 
Oct 28 – sent 28 bus 17 lb wheat to Beale & Peters making 188.47 
Oct 29 – at home 
Oct 30 – attended club dinner at Mr. Heineken’s all present but Messrs Len & Price next  
 dinner at Mr. Hensen’s Nov. 21st , met Richard at home 
Oct 31 – at home 
Nov 1 – paid Allen Mr. Turner’s check $7.25, Mr. Allen got tub corn $1 
Nov 2 – election day voted for Mr. Ellyson etc. etc. 
Nov 3 – sent Cynthia Thomas bar corn rec. $3.50 
Nov 4 – 8th Chapter of Daughters of Con. Had meeting & it was a great success 
Nov 5 – Kate and P----y left to my great regret 
Nov 6 – Mrs. Allen 3 1/6 bar corn at 2.95 $9.83, received check of Beale & Peters in full  
 $62.43, paid Lizzie $2, Albert $7.75, went to Haymarket to meet Lanier  
Nov 7 – at home 
Nov 8 – went to Sandy Moore’s with Lucy 
Nov 9 – at home 
Nov 10 – Mr. Ashe got Forester c---- 
Nov 11 – took Mr. Ashe to train 
Nov 12 – at home 
Nov 13 – paid Lizzie, missed lunch at Hensen’s 
Nov 14 – Lanier & Tim Hulfish came, received of Wm. Holiday for 1 bar corn $3.50 
Nov 15 – Lanier, R. Dulany & Tim Hulfish hunting, sent Holliday his corn 
Nov 16 – at home 
Nov 17 – Lanier & Tim Hulfish left 
Nov 18 – received order on J. Hunt from C. Ennis $50 for Warneke’s rent 
Nov 19 – at home 
Nov 20 – paid Lizzie $1 
Nov 21 – at home 
Nov 22 – hauled Mrs. Allen 14 shocks fodder $4.20 
Nov 23 – at home 
Nov 24 – at home 
Nov 25 – Richard & Bob Meade came 
Nov 26 – settled with W. Gossom to date for pasture, timber, chestnuts, Sinclair meat 

bill, 
corn &c. & received balance $3.15 7 paid interest on Lucy’s note $3, paid Lizzie 
$1 

Nov 27 – at home 
Nov 28 – received $2 balance from Walter on corn 
Nov 29 – at home 
Nov 30 – went with Lucy to call on Mr. & Mrs. Heineken on their 40th wedding  
 anniversary 
Dec 1 – paid Albert check $12 7 Ash $3  $15, received of Jos McIntosh balance in full  
 $13 for pasturing of colt 
Dec 2 – at home 
Dec 3 – gave notes to Beale for fe—bley mine $92, Roberts & Mine $70, paid Lizzie $1 
Dec 4 – at home 



Dec 5 – at home 
Dec 6 – at home 
Dec 7 – let Humphrey have tub of corn $1 
Dec 8 – sent check to Lynch $3.50 
Dec 9 – at home 
Dec 10 – received of Jas Rookwood on fodder $6 
Dec 11 – paid Lizzie $1 
Dec 12 – went to Haymarket to meet my dear boy Lanier 
Dec 13 – rain all day, Lanier left, sent H. E. Warneke check $50, Cinda Thomas sent  
 check for fodder $1 
Dec 14 – at home 
Dec 15 – at home 
Dec 16 – at home 
Dec 17 – at home 
Dec 18 – Walter Leonard 1 bar corn $3.00 due 
Dec 19 – dined with cousin Sally Burwell 
Dec 20 – at home 
Dec 21 – bought 2 pigs from Mr. Watson paid, sent check for bar flour to Jordan &  
 Jordan $7.50 
Dec 22 – at home paid Lizzie $1 
Dec 23 – at home 
Dec 24 – at home 
Dec 25– Christmas Day, Percy & Richard with us, received several presents from my  
 dear ones. 
Dec 26 – at home 
Dec 27 – paid Lizzie $1 
Dec 28 – at home, Percy left, paid Albert check $15 
Dec 29 – at home 
Dec 30 – at home 
Dec 31 – C----- got tub nubbin due 80c 
 
1910 
 
Jan 1 –cutting ice & filling house 
Jan 2 – at home 
Jan 3 – paid Lizzie $1 
Jan 4 – at home 
Jan 5 – Sindy Thomas tub corn due 80c 
Jan 6 – at home 
Jan 7 – at home 
Jan 8 – paid Lizzie $1, Martha Lansdown 4 bus corn paid __ 
Jan 9 – at home 
Jan 10 – at home 
Jan 11 – at home 
Jan 12 – at home 
Jan 13 – at home, paid Lizzie $1 



Jan 14 – received of Chas Ennis on rent $15, received of my dear daughter Kate 2 checks  
 of 50 each for Lucy & myself 
Jan 15 – at home 
Jan 16 – went to Haymarket to meet Richard, Lucy left with him for Washington, gave  
 Richard $50 & got my ticket 
Jan 17 – sent trunks to Haymarket 
Jan 18 – received $3.50  of W. Holliday for a bar corn to be delivered later also $1 for 5  

shocks fodder, Mrs. Allen got 8 shocks $2, 1 qt whiskey $1, she got before 5 for 
corn at 2.95 $14.75 and 14 shocks fodder 75 $4.20 and pasture 2 head cattle at 75 
for 6 months $9.00 

Jan 19 – left for Washington ticket $1.30 
Jan 20 – in Washington 
Jan 21 – reached Birmingham 
Jan 22 – reached Elizabeth 
Jan 23 – at Kate 
Jan 24 – at Rolen 
Jan 25 – went to Greenville 
Jan 26 – at Leland January 26 through February 6th  
Feb 7 – went to Vicksburg 
Feb 8 – in Vicksburg until February 21st   
Feb 22 – left for Austin ticket $21 
Feb 23 – reached Austin 
Feb 24– in Austin 
Feb 25 – in Austin 
Feb 26 – in Austin 
Feb 27 – in Austin 
Feb 28 – my 86th birthday 
Mar 1 – left for Vicksburg 
Mar 2 – on way to Vicksburg 
Mar 3 – reached Vicksburg 
Mar 4 – in Vicksburg 
Mar 5 – dates blank from this date until April 18th  
Apr 18 – received of J. McIntosh for 4 bus corn $3 & he owes for 5 bar, Albert hauled  
 3070 handle while I was away 
Apr 19 – let Wm. Gossom have 25 bus corn on lumber bill of E. Spring 
Apr 20 – at home 
Apr 21 – sent Beale 15 bus corn 
Apr 22 – at home 
Apr 23 – sent Beale 36 bus corn total 52 
Apr 24 – at home 
Apr 25 – received of W. Gossom check 1 bar corn$2 
Apr 26 – working road plough & team self, Albert L., W. Leonard, Carrol Dawson,  

Tennie Dawson, George Dawson, - received of W. Gossom $2 on shocks & $3.50 
bar of corn that W. Leonard got  

Apr 27 – working road Self, Albert, Carroll, Tennie, George, Will, plough & team 
Apr 28 – working road, Albert & plough & team, Self , Carroll Dawson, George, Dawson  



 – let Will Leonard have ½ barrel corn on road work 
Apr 29 – working road, plough, team Self. Albert Lansdown, Tennie Dawson, George  
 Dawson 
Apr 30 – received of Lucinda share for roasting corn $5 in full, paid Albert McIntosh  
 check $4 
May 1 – received of Humphrey Coram $20 on rent for James Garnett 
May 2 – at home 
May 3 – at home 
May 4 – at home 
May 5 – attended Daughter meeting at Miss Ewells, planted corn 
May 6 – at home 
May 7 – hauled 1400 handles to Haymarket for Mr. Mills 
May 8 – at home 
May 9 – hauled 1430 handles to Haymarket received of Jas Rookwood on bar corn $3  
 due 50c, went to Haymarket to meet Kate 
May 10 – hauled 1500 handles to Haymarket 
May 11 – hauled 1456 handles to Haymarket 
May 12 – at home 
May 13 – at home 
May 14 – club dinner at Mr. DePauws, next at Mr. Brown June 4th & next at Mr. Price’s 
May 15 – at home 
May 16 – Norby changed $20 bill owe $2 
May 17 – spent day with Lucy at Sandy Moore’s 
May 18 – Dick & Mary Cox came 
May 19 – went to Manassas and paid Bank balance $8 
May 20 – at home 
May 21 – at home 
May 22 – at home 
May 23 – Dick & Mary left 
May 24 – hauled 265 handles to Haymarket 
May 25 – sent Albert to work road 
May 26 – went to Haymarket & called on Mr. Depauw & Mr. Heineken 
May 27 – Albert worked road ½ day 
May 28 – Albert worked road ½ day 
May 29 – at home 
May 30 – at home 
May 31 – at home 
Jun 1 – paid Albert $10, sent to wellington money from Norby 
Jun 2 – attended meeting of DC at Lud Hutchison’s 
Jun 3 – received of J. McIntosh $2 
Jun 4 – attended club dinner at Mr. Brown’s all present next dinner at Mr. Price’s on 25th  
Jun 5 – at home 
Jun 6 – at home 
Jun 7 – at home 
Jun 8 – carried Norby to train 
Jun 9 – at home 



Jun 10 – at home 
Jun 11 – received check of Hall & Fletcher $28 sent same to West Hutchison & sent J. M.  
 Garnett check for $20 
Jun 12 – at home went to Haymarket for Norby 
Jun 13 – at home 
Jun 14 – at home 
Jun 15 – at home 
Jun 16 – at home 
Jun 17 – at home, storm at night 
Jun 18 – at home, storm at night 
Jun 19 – at home 
Jun 20 – at home 
Jun 21 – at home, moved Eyn rec. $2.50 
Jun 22 – at home 
Jun 23 – received of J. P. Smith for working road $5 
Jun 24 – sent Westwood Hutchison check $2.25 and note for renewal for $100, paid Elsie  
 $1 
Jun 25 – club dinner at Price’s next at Mr. Heineken’s July 7th  
Jun 26 – received check of H. Coram $5 
Jun 27 – at home 
Jun 28 – Robert commenced harvest 
Jun 29 – met Julia 
Jun 30 – at home 
Jul 1 – paid Albert check $5 
Jul 2 – at home 
Jul 3 – at home 
Jul 4 – Eva & Fanny went to the train 
Jul 5 – carried Julia to Haymarket 
Jul 6 – received of Jas Ashby $5 for corn to be furnished him at 80c a bushel, sent  
 Downham Company check $3 
Jul 7 – attended club dinner at Mr. Heineken’s next at Mr. Dodges on 23rd  
Jul 8 – at home 
Jul 9 – attended meeting of UDC at Mrs. H. Hutchison’s & spent night at Sandy Moore’s 
Jul 10 – at home 
Jul 11 – John McNeily came, paid Lizzie $1 
Jul 12 – paid Elsie $1 
Jul 13 – at home 
Jul 14 – at home 
Jul 15 – went to Haymarket to meet Douglass & Len 
Jul 16 – Lanier came 
Jul 17 – Lanier returned 
Jul 18 – paid Elsie $1 
Jul 19 – at home 
Jul 20 – Kate left and Lucy & Richard came 
Jul 21 – attended reunion of Berkeley Club at A. H. Compton’s as guests of Bull Run  



WDC made address of welcome followed by a long address of a rather 
hansomable character by Mr. Walter Neale & had a pleasant time & all the 
officers were reelected 

Jul 22 – at home 
Jul 23 – attended club dinner at Dr. Clarkson next dinner at Mr. Dodges August 6 
Jul 24 – at home 
Jul 25 – at home 
Jul 26 – went with Gossom to select place for Mill 
Jul 27 – went to Manassas to Horse show & took lunch with Mr. DePauw, cashed check  
 for Lucy and left in Bank in my account $3 
Jul 28 – Stuart Bresee came 
Jul 29 – at home 
Jul 30 – Lanier came Albert hauled wheat 
Jul 31 – attended funeral of Mrs. John Ewell & met many friends 
Aug 1 – Mary Bressee 7 Lucy left 
Aug 2 – Albert hauled 25 __ $3.75 
Aug 3 – paid Albert $10 he received from hauling $2.75 
Aug 4 – at home 
Aug 5 – at home 
Aug 6 – attended club dinner at Mr. Dodges, Little Len left 
Aug 7 – at home 
Aug 8 – Humphrey helped shell corn paid 1 bus 
Aug 9 – paid J. B. Ashby 6 bus corn 7 put 13 bus in Shafers Mill for bread, 11 roasting  
 corn out of Robert 
Aug 10 – at home 
Aug 11 – Albert went to move engn Robt. 9 ears 
Aug 12 – at home 
Aug 13 – attended church at Ewells Chapel & heard Bishop Loyd preach 
Aug 14 – Lanier & Richard came yesterday & left this evening, paid Elsie in full to date  
 $3 
Aug 15 – at home 
Aug 16 – at home 
Aug 17 – went to Haymarket for Julia & M. L. 
Aug 18 – at home 
Aug 19 – Mr. Heineken & Mr. Leonard & Mrs. H. came 
Aug 20 – at home 
Aug 21 – at home 
Aug 22 – went to Haymarket for Lucy, Katie & Douglass 
Aug 23 – Watson threshed rye bus 132, Scott 25 rye & blank 106 
Aug 24 – Robert made 279 
Aug 25 – I made 50 
Aug 26 – at home 
Aug 27 – at home 
Aug 28 – Lanier came, paid Elsie $1 
Aug 29 – Fanny McNeily came 
Aug 30 – Bessie Belcher came 



Aug 31 – Kate, Perry & Mary Len went to the Horse Show & got run into by a drunken  
 man 
Sep 1 – paid J. Young for 2 colts $20 
Sep 2 – at home, check from Gossom 
Sep 3 – received of Gossom for Minscoe Garnett check $20 
Sep 4 – at home, Watson hauled 1 ton P---- & Albert 2 tons fertilizer from Haymarket 
Sep 5 – paid Albert check $15 
Sep 6 – Albert hauled 1 ton fertilizer 
Sep 7 – Albert hauled 4 tons Watson 1 Robert 2 
Sep 8 – at home 
Sep 9 – went with Kate to Mr. Depauw’s 
Sep 10 – carried Mary Bland & dear little Kittie to home, Mary Bland & Kittie left in the  

evening, Received of W. Gossom $20, 12.80 in check & $7.50 in currency sent, 
Thomas Meredith the 12.50 for serv. of horse 

Sep 11 – Ashby & Humphrey put horses in 
Sep 12 – at home 
Sep 13 – went with Lucy to call on Mrs. M. Gray and dined at Mr. Heinekens 
Sep 14 – at home 
Sep 15 – at home 
Sep 16 – went with Norborne to Groveton to meet Mr. Round & his friend Col. Roe &  
 had great time 
Sep 17 – Richard came, Humphrey & Ashby got ten telegraph poles for Mr. Lightner & I  
 am to pasture for their horses  
Sep 18 – at home 
Sep 19 – at home 
Sep 20 – at home 
Sep 21 – at home 
Sep 22 – at home 
Sep 23 – paid Elsie $1 
Sep 24 – received of Gossom check $3.50 & 50c  $4, Received of Norby $3, went for  
 Lanier, paid Beale check for P----- & Douglass 60c 
Sep 25 – went to Haymarket to meet Len? - carried Lanier to station, 
Sep 26 –Robert commenced seeding, Lightner got poles & paid for them $3.52 
Sep 27 – received of Gossom check for $7 & sent same to Lanier & check for $3.50 to E.  
 E. Downham & Company 
Sep 28 – sent invitation to club dinner 
Sep 29 – at home 
Sep 30 – paid Elsie in full 
Oct 1 – club dinner all present but Mr. Heineken, Mr. Love & Mr. Peters, Mr. G-----  
 present 
Oct 2 – went to Church at Haymarket 
Oct 3 – at home 
Oct 4 – at home seeding 
Oct 5 – received of Gossom checks for $21, paid Albert check $15, gave Lucy check $6 
Oct 6 – attended WDV at Ludnell Hutchison 
Oct 7 – at home 



Oct 8 – at home 
Oct 9 – at home 
Oct 10 – took Lucy to train for Rapidan 
Oct 11 – at home 
Oct 12 – at home 
Oct 13 – at home 
Oct 14 – Carrol got 1 tub corn paid $1 
Oct 15 – at home paid Elsie $1 
Oct 16 – at home 
Oct 17 – at home 
Oct 18 – Albert took wife to train 
Oct 19 – at home 
Oct 20 – at home 
Oct 21 – Albert hauled load, Watson finished seeding 
Oct 22 – at home 
Oct 23 – at home 
Oct 24 – Lucy returned to my delight, received ck of Stuart Bresser for black mare colt,  

gave Lucy check $5, sent Donahan check for $3.50 & Dr. Hutchison check $2.50, 
sent check to West Hutchison $52 

Oct 25 – paid Elsie $1 
Oct 26 – sent Lanier check for Sinclair colt $15 
Oct 27 – Gossom cashed check $2 
Oct 28 – at home 
Oct 29 – attended club dinner at Mr. Loves and spent the night at Mr. Heineken’s 
Oct 30 – at home 
Oct 31 – at home 
Nov 1 – paid Albert check of $10 
Nov 2 – at home 
Nov 3 – at home , Mr. Ennis 5 sacks corn 
Nov 4 – at home 
Nov 5 – borrowed $2 from Fanny, paid Elsie $2 
Nov 6 – met Lanier at train 
Nov 7 – received check from Gossom $120 & sent it to my credit 
Nov 8 – gave Lucy check for Galleher $20 
Nov 9 – carried Lanier to train gave him check for $30, cashed check for self $5 I paid  
 Fanny 
Nov 10 – got hog from Jno Ewell 237 lbs at 8c sent him a check for $16 
Nov 11 – at home 
Nov 12 – attended club dinner at R. Dulaney 
Nov 13 – at home 
Nov 14 – at home 
Nov 15 – went with Lucy to Mr. Depauw & Mr. Heineken’s 
Nov 16 – at home gave Lucy check for Kate $6.55 & check for Jordan & Jordan $8 
Nov 17 – received of Wm. Holiday $2.50 
Nov 18 – at home 
Nov 19 – paid Lizzie $1, received of Gossom for J. M. ___ check for $33, attended oyster  



 supper at J. P. Smith’s 
Nov 20 – at home 
Nov 21 – at home 
Nov 22 – sent check to J. O. Lynch $3 
Nov 23 – Walter Leonard got 1 bar corn $3 
Nov 24 – borrowed of Norby $5 
Nov 25 – at home 
Nov 26 – received of Walter Leonard for 20 shocks corn $5 
Nov 27 – received of W. T. Gossom in canning $25, paid Norby $5, gave Lucy $5 
Nov 28 – paid Albert $10 
Nov 29 – received of Walter on fodder $5 
Nov 30 – attended Mr. & Mrs. Heineken’s wedding anniversary club dinner 
Dec 1 – at home 
Dec 2 – gave Elsie order on her father for $1.85 on corn & fodder $1.85 
Dec 3 – at home 
Dec 4 – heavy snow 
Dec 5 – at home 
Dec 6 – attended dinner given Mr. Hensen at Mr. DePauw’s spent night 
Dec 7 – at home 
Dec 8 – at home borrowed of Norby $5 
Dec 9 – received order from W. T. Gossom $3.50, let Jas Rookard have 20 shocks fodder  
 $12.50 
Dec 10 – gave Elsie order on her father $1 
Dec 11 – at home 
Dec 12 – at home 
Dec 13 – Lucy came 
Dec 14 – at home 
Dec 15 – at home 
Dec 16 – at home 
Dec 17 – paid Elsie per Walter $1 
Dec 18 – at home 
Dec 19 – at home 
Dec 20 – at home 
Dec 21 – at home 
Dec 22 – received of W. Gossom $50 in two checks 1 of 20 & 1 of 30, got W. Gossom to  
 cash check for $20 due 42 
Dec 23 – sent check for $13.47 to R. A. Hutchison to pay insurance 
Dec 24 – paid Albert check 
Dec 25– had a pleasant Christmas, Lanier & Richard being with us 
Dec 26 – received Christmas from my darling son Douglass and also one from my  
 daughter Kate Felton 
Dec 27 – at home 
Dec 28 – received of Chas Downs for 4 bar corn $12, went with Lucy to see Geo.  
 Mayhugh 
Dec 29 – at home 
Dec 30 – at home 



Dec 31 – went with Lucy to Sandy Moore’s the rough ride affected my bladder & had to  
send for Dr. Hutchison paid him $2 in full, received of Edmund Spring $6 for 2 
bar corn of which he got 1 & Charles Downs got 2 & there is due him 2 bar & 
Spring 1 bar. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 


